Cytokine and Growth Factor Profiles in Canine Autologous Conditioned Serum

Dominique Sawyere

Thesis submitted to the faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> MASTER OF SCIENCE In Biomedical and Veterinary Sciences

Otto I. Lanz, Committee Chair Linda Dahlgren Sabrina Barry

> April 13th, 2016 Blacksburg, VA

Keywords: autologous conditioned serum, osteoarthritis, canine

Cytokine and Growth Factor Profiles in Canine Autologous Conditioned Serum

Dominique Sawyere

ABSTRACT (ACADEMIC)

The object of this study was to compare growth factor and cytokine profiles in canine autologous conditioned serum (ACS) to canine plasma. Blood collected from 16 medium to large breed dogs was used to produce ACS (Orthokine® vet irap 10 syringes) and citrated plasma (control). Canine-specific ELISA assays were run per manufacturers' instructions for interleukin (IL)-10, IL-4, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1, fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2, transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1, IL-1 β , and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra). Serum, in addition to plasma and ACS, was collected from an additional 6 dogs for TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-1ra analysis (total of 22 dogs). Data were analyzed for differences in cytokine concentrations between ACS, plasma, and serum using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test with significance set at P<.05.There was a large variability in growth factor and cytokine concentrations between individual dogs in both plasma and ACS. There were no significant differences in IL-10, TNF- α , IGF-1, FGF-2, and TGF- β 1 concentrations between ACS, plasma, or serum. ACS concentrations of IL-1 β (median, range; 46.3 pg/mL, 0-828.8) and IL-4 (0.0 pg/mL, 0-244.1) were significantly increased compared to plasma (36.6 pg/mL, 0-657.1 and 0.0 pg/mL, 0-0, respectively). IL-1ra concentrations in ACS (median, range; 3458.9 pg/mL, 1,243.1-12,089.0) were significantly higher than plasma (692.3 pg/mL, 422.5-1,475.6), as was the IL-1ra:IL-1 β ratio (39.9 and 7.2, respectively).

Cytokine and Growth Factor Profiles in Canine Autologous Conditioned Serum

Dominique Marie Sawyere

ABSTRACT (PUBLIC)

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a common cause of pain and suffering in dogs and is challenging to treat effectively Current treatment for OA merely mask the signs of pain and do not promote regeneration of the damaged cartilage or alter the course of the disease. Many treatments also cause harmful side effects. Autologous conditioned serum (ACS) is a biological therapy that controls inflammation within the joint by specifically blocking the inflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL)-1 β . In humans and horses ACS relieves the pain from OA and promotes cartilage regeneration. The purpose of this study was to compare levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in canine ACS to that of normal canine plasma with the hypothesis that levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines would be higher in ACS compared to controls and that levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines would remain unchanged. Paired blood samples were collected from 22 large breed healthy dogs and processed in either irap®10 syringes (ACS) or in anti-coagulant as a control. For the last 6 dogs an additional serum sample was collected. Growth factor and cytokine levels were determined using canine-specific ELISAs. One pro-inflammatory cytokine (IL-1 β) and two anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1ra and IL-4) were significantly higher in the ACS compared to plasma and IL-1ra levels were also higher in serum compared with plasma samples. Other levels were the same between groups. Levels of IL-1ra in ACS were comparable to those measured in humans and horses. Further research is needed to assess the effect of ACS in patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Grant Information: The author would like to recognize the Virginia Veterinary Medical Association for financial support through the Veterinary Memorial Fund and Orthokine for donating irap®10 syringes for the project.

Acknowledgements: Orthokine for donating irap®10 syringes for the project, Miss. Anne Nichols for her help with running ELISAs, Mr. Daniel Inman for his assistance collecting samples and Dr. Stephen Werre for his help with statistical analysis. The author would additionally like to thank the graduate committee members listed above for their assistance in project design and document preparation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract (formal)	ii
Abstract (public)	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Abbreviations	vi
List of Tables	vii
Chapter 1: Background and Literature Review	
1. Osteoarthritis	1
a. Etiology and Pathophysiology	1
i. Normal Joint Structure	1
ii. Propagation of Osteoarthritis	4
b. Role of Cytokines in Osteoarthritis	6
i. Pro-inflammatory Cytokines	7
ii. Anti-inflammatory Cytokines	11
c. Current Treatment Options	13
i. Lifestyle	13
ii. Pharmaceuticals and Nutraceuticals	15
iii. Regenerative Therapies	20
iv. Surgical	21
2. Autologous Conditioned Serum	21
a. In Human Medicine	22
b. In Equine Medicine	24
c. In Small Animal Medicine	24
3. Conclusion	25
4. References	25
Chapter 2: Cytokine and Growth Factor Profiles in Healthy Canine Autologous	
Conditioned Serum	
5. Introduction	53
6. Materials and Methods 55	
7. Results 5	
7. Results 8. Discussion	
9. References	60 64
	U -

9. References

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACS	Autologous conditioned serum
ARA	Arachidonic acid
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
ICE	Interleukin-1 converting enzyme
IL	Interleukin
IL-1AcP	Interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein
IL-1ra	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
IL-1RI	Interleukin-1 receptor one
IL-1RII	Interleukin-1 receptor two
LOX	Lipooxygenase
LTB_4	Leukotriene B ₄
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
NOD	Nucleotide binding and oligomerization domain
OA	Osteoarthritis
PRP	Platelet rich plasma
TNF-a	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TNFR1	Tumour necrosis factor receptor one
TNFR2	Tumour necrosis factor receptor two
TXA ₂	Thromboxane A ₂

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Cytokine and growth factor concentrations in canine serum, plasma, and
autologous conditioned serum (ACS).69

Chapter 1: Background and Literature Review

Osteoarthritis

a. Etiology and Pathophysiology

Osteoarthritis is a chronic degenerative disease of joints, whereby deterioration of the articular structures leads to inflammation, pain and loss of function.

i. Normal Joint Structure

A diarthodial, synovial joint consists of hyaline cartilage, subchondral bone, a joint capsule and a joint space containing synovial fluid.¹

Hyaline cartilage is made from chondrocytes embedded in an extracellular matrix comprising of water, collagen and proteoglycans. The typical chondrocyte content of normal cartilage is 1-12%. The water content varies with the age of an animal and is between 70-80% of the weight of the cartilage. The remaining weight is comprised of approximately 50% collagen, 35% PGs, 10% glycoproteins and 5% minerals, lipids and miscellaneous substances.²

The depth of the cartilage is dependent on the area of the joint and is divided into four histological zones (from superficial to deep): tangential, transitional, radiate and calcified zones. The size, number, morphology and orientation of chondrocytes and collagen depend on the zone: The tangential zone contains a high density of flattened chondrocytes that lie parallel to the joint surface. The collagen fibers in this zone also lie parallel to the joint surface and are more densely packed. The transitional zone contains larger, more ovoid to round chondrocytes and the collagen is arranged in a haphazard fashion. The radiate zone contains the largest chondrocytes. In this area, the long axis of the cells and the collagen fibers are arranged perpendicular to the joint surface. Finally,

the calcified zone contains mineralized cells. The junction of the radiate and calcified zones is donated by a "tidemark" which can be seen histologically with Safranin O stain.

The primary collagen in cartilage is type I (90-95%); which is produced by chondrocytes. Type I cartilage is made of three identical collagen molecules that are linearly arranged to be 25% off set from each other. The remaining collagen is comprised of type VI, IX and XI, which help with the organization and stability of the type II cartilage.^{3,4} Type XI collagen helps to arrange type II collagen in to fibrils by providing a core for type II collagen to bind, while type IX collagen helps with inter-fibril binding.^{3,4}

Proteoglycans are made up of a core protein, to which glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) bind. The main proteoglycan is aggrecan, which accounts for around 85% of the proteoglycans found in cartilage. An aggrecan monomer is comprised of three different GAGs covalently bonded to a core protein through trisaccharide linker: chondroitin-4-sulfate, chondroitin-6-sulfate and keratan sulfate. Each monomer then non-covalently binds to a hyaluronan molecule via a linker protein to form an aggregate; aggregates can comprise of over 100 aggrecan monomers.⁵ The GAGs provide cartilage swelling pressure due to being hydrophilic and possessing a high negative change such that they repel each other.⁶ This is important in their function of maintaining cartilage volume and buoyancy. The remaining proteoglycans consist of smaller, non-aggregating proteoglycans which, although their exact role is not yet fully defined, are thought to be involved with cartilage repair.¹ Turn over of proteoglycans is estimated to be around 300 days in the dog, this rate is up-regulated in osteoarthritis. Up-regulation of both aggrecan and collagen synthesis may be an early sign of osteoarthritis.⁷

The joint capsule is made of a thick, fibrous outer layer and a thinner inner layer (synovium) that are continuations of the periosteum. The fibrous outer layer is comprised of type I collagen with elastin fibers. The fibers are arranged in parallel fascicles with occasional interspersed fibrocytes and blood vessels.^{8,9} Thickening of the joint capsule provides many of the ligaments associated with the joint, for example collateral ligaments.¹ The synovium is made up of two layers: the intimal and the subintimal layers.¹⁰ The inner most layer, the intermal layer, is comprised of 1-4 layers of synoviocytes and is lacking a basement membrane. The main functions of this layer are phagocytocysis (type A synviocytes), protein secretion (type B synoviocytes) and regulation of synovial fluid. Some texts also describe a "type C" synoviocyte, but it is undetermined if this is distinct cell type or a representation of a synoviocyte transitioning between type A and B. The type B synocviocytes are responsible for secreting a wide range of proteins that are important in the composition of the synovial fluid and that contribute to the synovial membrane. Some of these proteins include hyaluronan, collagen, pro-matrix metalloproteinases, lubricin, interleukins and eicosanoids.^{2,11} The second layer is the subintimal layer, which is comprised of loosely arranged fibrous and fatty tissues. The subintimal layer has a rich nerve, lymphatic and blood supply.^{12,13}

Synovial fluid is an ultra filtrate formed by the passage of plasma through the synovium with the addition of proteins from type B synoviocytes. Generally, the endothelium of the subintimal layer will only allow the passage of molecules less than 10kDa in size, thus excluding larger proteins, oxygen and carbon dioxide. Hyaluronan and lubrican are then added to the ultra filtrate by the type B synoviocytes to help provide lubrication and homeostasis of the joint via steric exclusion of larger molecules.^{2,11,14} As

well as lubricating the joint, the synovial fluid functions to provide nutrients to and remove metabolites from the avascular cartilage.¹

The subchondral bone is located directly below the articular cartilage in the epiphyseal region of the bone. In comparison to cortical bone, the haversian systems run parallel to the joint surface. This configuration allows for greater deformation and better transmission of forces from the cartilage to the underlying cortical bone.^{8,10,15}

The blood supply to joints arises from the surrounding arteries and vein, which form a network supplying the joint capsule and the epiphysis. Synovial blood vessels around the margins of the joint form anatomizing loops; known as *circulus articularis vasculosis*. The nerve supply of joints comprises of proprioceptive fibers, nociceptor fibers, and sympathetic visceral efferent/afferent fibers that arise from cutaneous or muscular branches near the joint. Four types of receptors are present in dog, and other mammalian, joints: Pacinian-like and Ruffini-like receptors in the joint capsule, Golgi tendon organs found in ligaments and free nerve endings.¹⁶ Additionally, intraarticular structures that are specific to the joint, such as the meniscus, also contain nerve fibers. The innervation of the joint and associated structures provides proprioception and the recognition of movement.¹

ii. Propagation of Osteoarthritis

The normal integrity of the joint is crucial to maintaining normal joint function: near frictionless motion, joint congruency and force transmission.¹⁷ Damage to the joint may happen in a multitude of ways including trauma such as articular fractures, development abnormalities such as hip and elbow dysplasia, or degenerative processes

such as cranial cruciate ligament rupture.¹⁷ Regardless of a causative factor, the damage that occurs to the articular cartilage causes a cascade of changes within the joint.^{18,19}

Direct damage to chondrocytes causes a release of proteolytic enzymes, favouring a catabolic environment. This leads to a loss of quality and quantity of key components of the matrix, such as aggrecan and collagen. Early signs of OA include an increase in water content of the cartilage and fibrillation, this alters the mechanical properties of the cartilage making it less able to withstand normal forces and thereby propagating the damage. As OA progresses there is measurable cartilage thinning and loss; this causes joint space narrowing on weight bearing radiographs. The narrowing may be asymmetric in cases of focal cartilage loss. Cartilage has a poor capacity for repair; it is replaced by a biomechanically inferior fibrocartilage. Compared with hyaline cartilage, fibrocartilage is composed mainly of type I and III collagen, with a low proteoglycan content. While over time the concentration of type II collagen and aggrecan may increase, at best a hyalinelike tissue is formed.

As the mechanical property of the cartilage is damaged, forces transmitted to the underlying subchondral bone increase.¹⁸ This causes microfractures in the underlying subchondral bone. In order to withstand the increase in forces, the subchondral bone becomes rigid and sclerotic, this occurs under the influence of IL-6.^{15,18,20,21} A less common change is subchondral lysis, which may occur due to pressure necrosis due to increased load, joint fluid and the influence of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α).

Although the synovium does not have any direct biomechanical effects on the joint, synoviocytes are responsible for the production of many catabolic products including: proteoglycans, cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Additionally,

neutrophils and macrophages may also be found in higher concentrations with inflamed synovium, adding to both the production of enzymatic mediators and contributing to the role of phagocytosis.

Histological changes in inflamed synovium include increased vascularity and edema; which has been associated with an increase in joint fluid volume and increased protein concentration. It is the increase in joint fluid volume that is thought to produce increased pressure on the lymphatic draining system causing a decrease in drainage. This occurs simultaneously with a decrease in the quality and quantity of hyluronan; resulting in reduced viscosity of the joint fluid.²² The increased volume in the joint contributes to the loss of function; while the decrease in viscosity causes increased friction during motion resulting in accelerated cartilage wear.

Pain associated with OA is a result of C-fiber stimulation in the joint capsule, synovium, bone, periosteum and surrounding tendons and ligaments. C-fibers are stimulated in response to both mechanical (stretching) and chemical stimuli. In chronic arthritis, there has been shown to be an up regulation of pain receptors and involvement of the central nervous system.²³

The net effect of the mechanical and biochemical changes is that the joint is less able to withstand normal forces, thereby perpetuating the cycle.

b. The Role of Cytokines in Osteoarthritis

Cytokines are a diverse group of small signalling molecules that carry both paracrine and autocrine roles. Each cytokine is produced by one or more cell types, and the cytokine goes on to interact with receptors on one or more different cell types to

cause a local or distant response. Due to the function of cytokines involved in OA, they can be broadly divided as pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory. It is important to note that cytokine function is also affected by timing, concentration and association with other cytokines.²⁴

i. Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

Although once thought of as a non-inflammatory process, it is now known OA involves a degree of inflammation even in the early stages of the disease.²⁵⁻³⁰ In the diseased joint, damaged chondrocytes, synoviocytes and monocytes release proinflammatory cytokines, thus causing the joint to enter an inflammatory or catabolic state. In general, pro-inflammatory cytokines stimulate chondrocytes to release MMPs, in particular MMP-1 (interstitial collagenase), MMP-3 (stromelysin 1) and MMP-13 (collagenase 3).³¹⁻³³ These three proteinases regulate collagen catabolism. Additionally, pro-inflammatory cytokines induce other inflammatory mediators including inducible nitric oxide synthase, soluble phosholipase A2, cyclooxygenase 2, microsomal prostaglandin E synthase 1, nitric oxide and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂). Interleukin (IL)-1 β and TNF- α are the main inflammatory factors involved in OA, with IL-1 β driving tissue destruction and TNF- α associated with inflammation.^{21,34,35}

In addition, other cytokines including IL-6, IL-15, IL-17, IL-18, IL-21, leukemia inhibitory factor and IL-8 (a chemokine) have been implicated.²¹

Interleukin-1 β

IL-1 β is part of the IL-1 family that consists of three ligands: IL-1 α , IL-1 β and interleukin receptor antagonist (IL-1ra). IL-1 α and IL-1 β share approximately 22%

amino acid homology; IL-1ra shares approximately 18% amino acid homology with IL-1 α and 26% amino acid homology with IL-1 β .³⁶⁻³⁸ IL-1 β is synthesized in the cytoplasm of several cell types including activated macrophages, neutrophils and synoviocytes as an inactive 31kDa proform (pro-IL-1 β).³⁹ Prior to pro-IL-1 β being released from the cell, it is cleaved by interleukin-1 converting enzyme (ICE), otherwise known as caspase-1, to form the mature 17kDa IL-1 β .^{39,40} IL-1 β together with IL-1 receptor accessory protein (IL-1AcP) form a complex with the biologically active (IL-1RI) or inactive (IL-1RII) IL-1 receptors.³⁹

IL-1 β one of the most potent inflammatory mediators in the body. It has been implicated in several disease processes in people including rheumatoid arthritis, OA, Crohn's disease, gout, pulmonary fibrosis, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular and central nervous system disease.³⁹ Once bound to IL-1RI, IL-1ß mediates an increase in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, prostaglandins and NO. On a systemic level this causes hypotension, decreased white blood cell counts, hemorrhage and pulmonary edema within the host.^{41,42} The role of IL-1 β in osteoarthritis was first reported by Fell et al, whereby they discovered cultured synovial tissue released a factor (later found to be IL-1 β) that activated chondrocytes leading to PGs degradation in adjacent tissues.⁴³ Following this, multiple reports have implicated IL-1 β as a major mediator of inflammation and tissue destruction in OA, with the effect of IL-1 β within joints including stimulation of leukocyte infiltration, enhanced proteoglycan degradation, inhibition of proteoglycan synthesis and enhanced collagen degradation.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷ Due to the role of IL-1 β in OA, IL-1 β antagonism is a potential therapeutic avenue in the treatment of OA.

The regulation of IL-1 β is very complex and involves several layers of control including production, processing, receptor availability and accessory proteins. Production of pro-IL-1 β is dependent on the concentration of cells available to synthesize it; in OA, inflamed synoviocytes and activated macrophages increase the production of pro-IL-1 β . Processing of pro-IL-1 β to IL-1 β is reliant on caspase-1. In OA, products of tissue degradation activate the nucleotide binding and oligomerization domain-like receptors, which in turn leads to the activation of caspase-1 via recruitment to a multiprotein complex termed the inflammasome.^{39,40,48,49} The availability of receptor binding can be controlled in two ways: first, IL-1RII is an inactive form of IL-1RI, in that binding of IL-1β to IL-1RII produces no response. Therefore, IL-1RII can negatively regulate cell activation by competing with IL-1RI as a binding site for IL-1 β . In addition, IL-1RII can be released from the cell membrane and bind to IL-1 β in the cell microenvironment, thus preventing the interaction of IL-1 β with the membrane-bound IL-1RI. Second, IL-1ra (see below), is a competitive inhibitor of IL-1 β . IL-1ra has a high affinity for IL-1RI but produces no cellular response. Finally, IL-AcP is required for the co-activation of the IL-RI receptor. Following the binding of IL-1 to IL-1RI, IL-AcP is added to the complex. It is the approximation of the cytoplasmic domains of IL-1RI and IL-AcP that goes on to stimulate the intracellular signal; therefore, without IL-AcP there will be no cellular response.^{50,51}

Tumour Necrosis Factor-α

Tumour necrosis factor- α is a 17kDa inflammatory cytokine produced by activated macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophils.⁵² TNF- α is initially produced in a transmembrane form, which is then converted to a soluble form by TNF- α converting

enzyme. It is the soluble form of TNF- α that is implicated in OA.⁵³ TNF- α remains conservative among species with the human cytokine sharing 92% homology with the canine cytokine.⁵⁴ TNF- α binds to one of two surface receptors: TNFR1 (55kDa) or TNFR2 (75kDa). TNFR1 is expressed constitutively on most mammalian tissues; however, it is upregulated in OA on chondrocytes and synovial fibroblasts.⁵⁵ TNFR2 is inducible and expressed mainly on immune, endothelial and neuronal cells ^{56,57} TNFR1 is activated by both forms of TNF- α , while TNFR2 is only activated by the transmembrane form.⁵⁸ TNF- α perpetuates OA in several ways: first, TNF- α inhibits proteoglycan synthesis, leading to a loss in integrity of the cartilage matrix.⁵⁹ Second, TNF- α upregulates the production of MMP3, which in turn causes enzymatic degradation of the cartilage matrix.⁶⁰⁻⁶² Finally, TNF-a has direct pro-inflammatory effects as well.^{63,64} Additionally, as there is an increase in the presence of TNF- α receptors in mildly osteoarthritic joints, TNF- α is thought to have a role perpetuating early OA.⁶⁵ TNFR1 has also been implicated in cartilage loss, with the areas of the joint expressing a high number of TNFR1 receptors also experiencing focal cartilage loss.⁶⁶

Homeostasis of TNF- α is maintained by binding of TNF- α to shed soluble portions of TNFR1 and TNFR2 in the circulation, thereby lowering the amount of TNF- α available to bind with membrane receptors.^{67,68} In the case of arthritis, there has been research into inhibiting the inflammatory effects of TNF- α while maintaining immunity and immune-modulation. In a study using knockout mice, it was found that TNFR1 signaling has a pathologic effect whereas TNFR2 signaling had an anti-inflammatory effect.⁶⁹ Therefore, two main approaches have emerged that specifically target the inflammatory effects of TNF- α : first is to inhibit the soluble form while sparing the transmembrane form and second is to target TNFR1 and spare TNFR2. Human studies into the use of anti-TNF- α antibodies on autoimmune mediated arthritis have shown positive results.⁷⁰⁻⁷³ Although TNF- α plays a clear role in OA, there is very little research into the clinical effect of TNF- α inhibition. One human pilot study and another case study on the effect of anti-TNF- α treatment found favourable results.^{74,75} However, a pilot clinical trial using adalimumab, a human monoclonal anti-TNF antibody drug, found the drug was well tolerated but did not improve symptoms of OA.⁷⁶ There are currently no clinical veterinary studies looking at the effects of anti-TNF- α therapy.

Other Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

Although IL-1 β and TNF- α are considered the major pro-inflammatory cytokines in OA, additional pro-inflammatory cytokines also play a role in OA either through direct inflammatory effect or through perpetuating IL-1 β and TNF- α .²¹

IL-6 has been found to be elevated in synovial fluid and sera from patients with OA; however, its exact role in OA is controversial.^{21,77} The known effects of IL-6 include up-regulation of IL-1 β , oncostatin, MMP-1 and MMP-13 expression as well as reducing the expression of type II collagen.⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰ However, injection of IL-6 into the joints of IL-6 knockout mice with experimentally induced OA reduced cartilage destruction.⁸¹ IL-15 has been found in the synovial fluid of patients during early OA and is suspected to be associated with MMP-1 and MMP-3.⁸² IL-17 has been found to induce IL-1 β production as well as TNF- α and IL-6. IL-17 also upregulates nitric oxide and MMPs while downregulating proteoglycan levels.⁸³⁻⁸⁶ IL-18 is structurally similar to the IL-1 family, and therefore IL-18 can act through both IL-1 dependent and independent pathways.⁸⁷

ii. Anti-inflammatory cytokines

Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein:

Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein is a structural variant of IL-1 that acts as a natural antagonist.^{50,51,88-93} Initially, IL-1ra was described as a 17kDa protein with variably glycosylated species of 22-24kDa.⁹⁴ This form of IL-1ra is secreted by macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils and other cells.⁹⁴ Since then, several other intracellular forms of IL-1ra have been described and found to have variable affinity to the IL-1RI receptor.⁹⁴ During normal homeostasis, IL-1ra will regulate the effect of IL-1 β by competitively binding to IL-1RI receptors. Although IL-1ra will bind to the receptor, it will not allow the binding of IL-AcP and thus prevents initiation of the signaling transduction pathway. Due to the spare receptor effect, IL-1ra concentrations need to be 100 fold that of IL-1 β , which does not allow this requirement to be met.

Many papers utilizing both human and animal models support the antiinflammatory role of IL-1ra.⁹⁵⁻¹⁰¹ It has been found that injection of IL-1ra into animal joints with experimental arthritis suppressed inflammation and tissue destruction.^{97-99,101-103} Furthermore, IL-1ra knockout mice not only developed more severe arthritis than the wild type counterparts, but they have also been found to develop spontaneous "rheumatoid-like" arthritis.^{100,104} Clinically in people, injections of IL-1ra are an efficacious treatment for arthritis and are well tolerated.¹⁰⁵

Other Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines

Along with IL-1ra, other anti-inflammatory cytokines including IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 are elevated in OA tissues. These three cytokines function together to inhibit IL-

1 β , TNF- α and proteases while upregulating IL-1ra and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase production.¹⁰⁶

c. Current Treatment Options for Canine Osteoarthritis

A large range of treatment options exists for OA: this in part is due to the low efficacy of long-term treatment and the lack of a "cure". Current mainstays of OA management include weight loss, exercise modification, addition of nutriceuticals to the diet, and the use of systemic and intra-articular pharmacological. Other less common options include cold laser therapy and acupuncture. However, all of these options are aimed more at treating the symptoms rather than the underlying cause.

i. Lifestyle

Weight Management

Achieving and maintaining a healthy weight is an important aspect of OA management as it is estimated that 34% of adult dogs seen by veterinarians are overweight or obese.¹⁰⁷ Weight loss has been well demonstrated in human and canine patients to help with the pain and morbidity associated with OA.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹² Weight loss of 6.10% or more in obese dogs can significantly decrease subjectively assessed lameness associated with OA.¹¹⁰ Objective improvement was also seen with kinematic gait analysis with weight loss of 8.85% or more.¹¹⁰ It has been demonstrated in humans that being overweight or obese not only increases the load on the joints, it may alter joint alignment as well as induce an inflammatory state with increased concentrations of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and leptin.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁶

Restrictive diets may have an effect on the development of OA, and they have been advocated as a preventative option in at-risk breeds. Trials were performed on a

cohort of Labrador Retrievers fed ad libitum (control) or on a 25% restricted diet from 8 weeks of age. At the end of the study, 83% of the control dogs had developed OA while only 50% of the diet-restricted dogs developed OA. Additionally, at 8 years of age the prevalence of OA in two or more joints was 77% in the control group and 10% in the diet-restricted group.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ Perhaps the most compelling part of this study is that the control dogs were only mildly overweight.¹¹⁹

Exercise

The long-term benefits of exercise in dogs with OA have been ill-defined in the literature. Most of our current recommendations come from human studies where regular exercise has proved to be beneficial in reducing the pain associated with hip and knee OA.^{109,120} Exercise therapy may also decrease cytokine and cytokine-related gene levels in the synovial fluid, as well as inhibit inflammatory factor-mediated cartilage degradation.^{109,120}

Following the diagnosis of OA, it is generally recommended to start dogs on a regular low impact exercise plan, such as leash walking, treadmill walking, stair climbing, walking up hills or ramps and swimming. Low impact exercise promotes muscle tone and weight loss as well as decreases stiffness and reduces muscle atrophy.^{121,122} It is thought that exercise may increase cartilage metabolism and synthesis of proteoglycans through the periodic loading of the articular cartilage. ^{121,123} Additionally, active-resistive exercises, such as sit to stand, wheelbarrowing or dancing, can help with the animal's strength, stamina and co-ordination.^{122,123}

Other aspects of physical therapy include passive range of motion exercises and proprioceptive exercises. Passive range of motion can help restore normal joint motion,

prevent contracture, and improve blood flow and lymphatics by moving the joint though a comfortable range of motion. Passive range of motion has been shown to significantly increase range of motion following 21 days of passive stretching.¹²⁴ Passive range of motion has also been shown to reduce the catabolic effects of inactivity on articular cartilage.^{125,126} Proprioception exercises can help promote weight bearing on the affected limb by holding up the contralateral limb. Rocker boards may also be used to improve proprioception and balance.¹²⁷

ii. Pharmaceuticals and Nutraceuticals

Nutraceuticals

Nutraceuticals are defined as a food that give medicinal or health benefits in addition to its nutritional properties. Several nutraceuticals have been shown to have beneficial effects for canine osteoarthritis. The most common nutraceuticals are omega-3 fatty acids, glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate.

Omega-3 fatty acids, which contain eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), help to modulate the inflammatory response. The primary omega-6 fatty acid in cell membranes is arachidonic acid (ARA), a precursor for the production of inflammatory eicosanoids found in OA: PGE₂, thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂) and leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄). By including a high level of long chain polyunsaturated omega-3 fatty acids into the diet, ARA is replaced by EPA in the cell membrane, thus inducing the production of the less inflammatory form of these eicosanoids: PGE₃, TXA₃, and LTB₅.¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰ Additionally, omega-3 fatty acids have been shown to suppress IL-1 β and TNF α expression in cartilage.^{128,131} Trials in both humans and dogs have shown positive results with omega-3 fatty acid supplementation, with documented changes including reduced plasma PGE_2 and synovial fluid MMPs, reduced lameness and enhanced weight bearing.^{128,131-139} A recent study has also shown dogs with OA supplemented with omega-3 fatty acids required a lower dose of carprofen compared to prior to starting supplementation and to a control group.¹³⁸

Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate have most commonly been studied together in canine medicine. Glucosamine is thought to have a stimulatory effect on chondrocytes, while chondroitin sulfate is an endogenously produced polysaccharide found in the joint cartilage matrix that works synergistically with glucosamine to reduce inflammation and slow cartilage deterioration.^{132,140-142} While studies in humans looking at the effects of glucosamine in OA patients have had mixed results, studies in dogs looking at the effects of glucosamine and chondroitin have had more positive results. However, these trials only contained a positive control, not a placebo, and the measurements were objective.¹⁴²⁻ ¹⁴⁴ In summary, more research needs to be conducted on the effects of glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate.

Many other nutraceuticals have been proposed for use in canine OA including New Zealand green lipped mussel, which is credited for its anti-inflammatory properties, velvet deer antler and antioxidants.^{145,146} Large, clinical controlled prospective studies to evaluate these products are lacking.

Pharmaceuticals:

Many different pharmaceuticals are available for the treatment of OA, including local or systemic medications available in oral and injectable forms. Most pharmaceutical drugs fall into the categories of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or corticosteroids.

NSAIDs are commonly used to relieve the pain and inflammation associated with OA. The main anti-inflammatory effect of NSAIDs is by inhibiting the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes that induce the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins and thromboxane. There are two main forms of COX: COX-1, a constitutive enzyme that is responsible for the production of homeostasis prostanoids, and COX-2, an inducible enzyme found in inflamed or injured tissue.¹⁴⁷ During OA, COX-2 is induced and synthesized by activated macrophages and inflammatory cells in response to the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1β.¹⁴⁷ Thus, blocking COX-2 decreases the amount of inflammatory mediators in the joint.¹⁴⁸

In addition to decreasing inflammation within the joint, blocking COX-2 has also been found to decrease joint disease and may actually have a protective effect on subchondral bone when used in early OA.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹ One of the proposed mechanisms for this is through the prevention of NO induced cell death.¹⁵²

As well as local effects on the joint, it is also thought that over time COX enzymes play a role in central sensitization. ^{153,154} It has been shown that not only does the use of NSAIDs reduce the central sensitization, but that in the case of chronic use of NSAIDs the reduction in central sensitization will in turn decrease the progression of the disease process within the joint.^{155,158}

In the clinical setting, NSAIDs have been shown to improve joint pain and function. Several common NSAIDs used in small animal medicine include carprofen, meloxicam, robenacoxib and firocoxib. Several studies looking at the efficacy of carprofen have found clinical improvement in over 70% of dogs treated.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹ However, complete resolution of lameness is not as common, and the results may be inversely

correlated with the duration of lameness.¹⁶¹ Likewise, clinical studies looking at the efficacy of other NSAIDs such as robenacoxib, firocoxib and meloxicam in dogs have found similar if not better results as the studies looking at carprofen.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁵

Side effects for NSAIDs are common and reported to occur in up to 52% of some study populations; however, most side effects consist of mild gastrointestinal upset and do not preclude administration. ^{165,166} Other more serious reported side effects are less common and include stomach ulceration, kidney damage and idiosyncratic liver toxicoses with carprofen use.^{162,167-169}

Corticosteroids are 21-carbon molecules that contain three 6-carbon rings and a 5carbon ring.¹⁷⁰ The pharmacological activity of a corticosteroid is determined by the presence of a hydroxyl group at the C-11 location. Corticosteroids are potent antiinflammatory drugs that can be used as a local intra-articular injection, or less commonly systemically, to reduce inflammation during osteoarthritis; however, the use of corticosteroids is controversial.¹⁷¹ The most common steroids for intra-articular use are 11β-hydroxyl compounds such as triamcinolone hexacetonide and methylprednisolone acetate, either alone or in combination with hyaluronic acid. Corticosteroids work by stimulating lipocortin which in turn inhibits plasma-bound phospholipase A₂. Phospholipase A is responsible for the conversation of phospholipase to achridonic acid, which would then go on to stimulate the COX and lipoxygenase (LOX) pathways.¹⁴⁸ Therefore, the inhibition of phospholipase A, indirectly inhibits the de novo production of prostaglandins, thromboxane and eicosanoids. Corticosteroids also decrease MMP activity; decreasing catabolic activity in the joint.¹⁷¹ This may either be through a direct effect of the corticosteroid on MMPs or via inhibition of cytokines that would have gone

on to up-regulate MMP production.¹⁷¹ Corticosteroids also have several other effects including inhibition of leukocyte infiltration, suppressing leukocyte superoxide synthesis, inhibiting platelet aggregation, decreasing vascular permeability and inhibiting IL-1 β and TNF- α .¹⁷⁰ In experimental canine studies, the use of corticosteroids has been found to delay the onset of secondary changes such as osteophytes, decrease the synthesis of inflammatory mediators and may help to protect canine chondrocytes against the effects of IL-1 β .^{148,172,173}

There are some concerns with the use of corticosteroids for the treatment of osteoarthritis. Several studies have reported that corticosteroids inhibit mitotic activity, cell growth and collagen type II synthesis, which result in decreased chondrocyte viability and decreased matrix production.^{148,174-178} Other research suggests that inflamed joints do not exhibit the same side effects as normal joints do.¹⁷⁹ Other reported side effects include septic arthritis, osseous metaplasia and pain following injection. Due to concern that patients may further injure their joint following injection, most authors recommend an arbitrary rest period that may range for 2-6 weeks. Although systemic absorption of steroids injected in the joint is unlikely to be significant, the use of oral steroids can have several side effects including increased drinking and urination weight gain, decreased immune system and with long term use can induce adrenocortical atrophy.

iii. Regenerative Therapies

Regenerative therapies have the potential to not only mitigate the clinical signs of OA, but also may help restore cartilage health. Examples of such therapies include platelet rich plasma (PRP), stem cell therapy and ACS

Platelet Rich Plasma

Platelet rich plasma is a concentrate of plasma containing at least 2-4 times the circulating number of platelets, that has been reported for the use of OA in people, horses and dogs.¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸⁵. Depending on the method of production, PRP may also have a leukocyte, red blood cell or fibrin component.¹⁸⁶ It is thought that platelets can enhance the regenerative process within osteoarthritic joints either through direct stimulation of healing via α -granules or recruitment of stem cells from growth factor release.^{185,187-191} A small number of leukocytes may be beneficial in the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines; however, they also have the potential for the release of pro-inflammatory cytokine and are therefore mostly minimized.

There are limited reports of PRP use in small animals; however, a recent clinical study found a single intra-articular injection of PRP resulted in significant improvement in joints with mild to moderate OA with respect to improved peak vertical force and client surveys.¹⁸²

Stem Cell Therapy

Adult mesenchymal stem cells are precursor cells found in most adult tissues that are capable of differentiating into different mesenchymal cell lineages: adipocytes, chondrocytes and osteocytes.¹⁹² The main proposed advantage of stem cell therapy is the potential for regeneration of hyaline cartilage, instead of the biomechanically inferior

fibrocartilage. It is also possible to obtain stem cells from fetal tissue. Fetal stem cells are capable of differentiating in to a wider range of tissue types. However, fetal stem cells have a higher rate of complications including reaction and teratoma formation as well as ethical concerns. The richest source of mesenchymal stem cells is from falciform fat.

Currently, there are few clinical canine studies looking at the effects of stem cell therapy in canine OA. Two prospective, randomized, blinded studies have been conducted to investigate the effect of MSC on canine elbow and coxofemoral OA; both studies reported that dogs treated with stem cells had subjectively improved lameness.^{193,194} However, it is prudent to note the improvement was only noted by the veterinarian not the owner, and the papers were commissioned by a producer of stem cells.

iv. Surgical

There are no surgical options that directly treat OA. In some cases, such as cranial cruciate ligament rupture, surgery can help slow the progression of OA but will not reverse or completely halt OA. Arthroscopy may be used as a diagnostic and to debride damaged tissue, as in the case of a fragmented medial coronoid process. In severe cases of OA, total joint arthroplasties, arthrodesis or excisional arthroplasties may be indicated.

2. Autologous Conditioned Serum

Autologous conditioned serum (ACS) is produced by incubating blood with medical grade borosilicate spheres.¹⁹⁵ The spheres induce peripheral leukocytes to produce IL-1ra and other anti-inflammatory cytokines by release from intracellular reserves and *de novo* synthesis.¹⁹⁶ So far we do not fully understand the mechanism of

action for ACS. Researchers have looked at the cytokines present in ACS made from human and equine blood, but the list is unlikely to be extensive.^{195,197,198} Also, the concentrations of cytokines have a high standard deviation, indicating there is a variance between individuals.^{195,198}

a. In Human Medicine

ACS has been used in human medicine for the last 15 years, with a wide range of clinical applications and efficacies reported. Studies looking at the cytokine profile of human ACS have found a 3-140-fold increase in IL-1ra and a moderate increase in a number of other anti-inflammatory cytokines as well as a small but significant increase in IL-1 β and TNF- α .^{195,197,199}

Several other studies looking at the use of ACS in patients of the age of 18 with knee or hip OA have found ACS improves the clinical signs of OA, such as pain and loss of function. ²⁰⁰⁻²⁰³ Outcome measures in these studies included the use of patient-administered outcome instruments: global western Ontario and McMaster university OA index (WOMAC), knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score, the knee society clinical rating score and visual analog pain scale. In most studies, dosage of ACS was guided by manufacturer's recommendations: 2ml of ACS, two injections per week for 3 consecutive weeks. In a large clinical trial using ACS for the treatment of OA, there was significant improvement in the global western Ontario and McMaster university OA index (WOMAC) at all time points as compared to hyaluronan and saline placebos. Additionally, ACS was found to have marked clinical and significant therapeutic effects.²⁰⁴ A similar paper comparing ACS to hyaluronan in 376 patients also found an improvement

in patient-administered outcome instruments.²⁰³ This improvement lasted out to the finial 2-year follow-up.

However, other researchers have found a different result with ACS showing no benefit over placebo in the treatment of OA. ²⁰⁵ A clinical trial of 22 patients with OA looked at the effects of ACS injection on cytokine concentrations in synovial fluid.¹⁹⁷ Patients were treated with either injections of ACS or untreated serum at 0, 3, 7, 10, 14 and 21 days. Prior to each injection a sample of synovial fluid was collected. Additionally, the study looked at the effects of ACS on cultured OA cartilage explants collected from patients undergoing knee replacement surgery. The study found no effect of the ACS on prostaglandin metabolism, or on the concentrations of cytokines in the joint. The authors hypothesized the results may be due to the fast clearance of the cytokines from the joint. A later trail by the same author compared ACS to plasma controls in 74 patients, and found no difference in clinical improvement as based on patient questioners at 12 months.²⁰⁵ In this study only 20 of the 74 patients opted to be in the ACS group, this caused the study to have a lower power and a selection bias.

Reported adverse effects include mild local reactions (transient knee pain, swelling, tenderness and heat at the injection site), anticipatory pain at injection, and treatment failure due to the laborious nature of the treatment (time and logistics).^{203,205}

In addition to application in the treatment of OA, ACS has also shown to be effective in the treatment of sciatic pain²⁰⁶, tendon healing²⁰⁷, and to reduce bone tunnel widening following anterior cruciate ligament surgery.²⁰⁸ ACS has also been shown to enhance muscle healing in both experimentally in mice and in a clinical setting.^{209,210}

b. In Equine Medicine

There is a growing interest in ACS in the equine industry; however, few clinical studies looking at the histological and clinical effects of ACS have been published. Similar to human cytokine profiles, horse ACS results in a around a 93 to 119-fold increase in IL-1ra along with a small but significant increase in IL-1 β , TNF- α and some other anti-inflammatory cytokines.¹⁹⁸

A single experimental study exists in equine medicine looking at the effects of ACS on OA. OA was induced in the middle carpal joint of 16 horses, each horse was then treated with 4 injections, 7 days apart of either a placebo or 6ml of ACS.²¹¹ ACS-treated osteoarthritic joints were reported to have significantly less intimal hyperplasia compared to placebo treated and trended towards having lower scores for cartilage erosion and synovial membrane hemorrhage.²¹¹ Clinically, ACS was shown to significantly improve lameness compared to the placebo treated horses.²¹¹

c. In Small Animal Medicine

To date, there are no clinical trials evaluating the use of ACS to treat OA in small animal medicine. There are reports using dogs as a model for OA, which investigated the effect of intra-articular injections of human IL-1ra genes. These studies found that a local increase in IL-1ra within the joint reduced the progression of experimentally induced OA.^{212,213} Similar results were obtained after injection of canine IL-1ra into rabbit stifles.²¹⁴ Recently a study looked at the validation of a canine specific IL-1ra ELISA using a commercially available ACS system and found they could produce a 40-fold increase in IL-1ra compared with un-processed serum.²¹⁵ Investigation into other cytokines or growth factors in canine ACS has not been performed.

3. Conclusions

Osteoarthritis is a common and extensively studied disease in humans, horses and dogs. However, despite extensive research, current treatment mainstream options are limited to predominately symptomatic treatment. The balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines plays a defined role in the pathogenesis of OA. This role has been exploited and used as a viable treatment target in human and equine medicine. Although further research is required to investigate the efficacy of cytokine therapy in dogs, the outcome appears promising.

4. References

 Evans H, De LaHunter A. Arthorology In: Evans H,De LaHunter A, eds.
 Miller's Anatomy of the Dog. 4th ed. St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier Saunders, 2013;158-184.

2. Todhunter R. Anatomy and Physiology of Synovial Joints In: McIlwraith C,Trotter G, eds. *Joint Diseases in the Horse*. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996;1.

3. Eikenberry E, Mendler M, Burgin R, et al. Fibrillar Organization in Cartilage In: Kuettner K, Schleyerbach R, Peyron J, et al., eds. *Articular Cartilage and Osteoarthritis*. New York: Raven Press, 1992;133.

4. Akeson W. Articular Cartilage and its Exacting Characteristics: The Benchmark for All Attempts to Achieve Articular Cartilage Regeneration or Repair In: Daniel D, Pedowitz R,O'Connor J, eds. *Daniel's Kness Injuries: Ligament and Cartilage Sturucture, Function, Injury and Repair.* 2nd ed. Philadephia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 2003;113.

5. Lohmander S. Proteoglycans of joint cartilage. Structure, function, turnover and role as markers of joint disease. *Baillieres Clin Rheumatol* 1988;2:37-62.

Ogston A. The Biological Functions of the Glycosaminoglycans. In: EA
 B, ed. *Chemistry and Molecular Biology of the Intercellular Matrix*. New York:
 Academic Press, 1970;1231.

7. Carney SL, Billingham ME, Muir H, et al. Demonstration of increased proteoglycan turnover in cartilage explants from dogs with experimental osteoarthritis. *J Orthop Res* 1984;2:201-206.

 Mankin H, Radin E. Structure and Function of Joints. In: McCarty D, ed. Arthritis and Allied Conditions: A Textbook of Rheumatology. 12th ed. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger, 1993;189.

9. Gamble JG, Edwards CC, Max SR. Enzymatic adaptation in ligaments during immobilization. *Am J Sports Med* 1984;12:221-228.

10. Renberg WC. Pathophysiology and management of arthritis. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 2005;35:1073-1091.

McIlwraith C. General Pathobiology of the Joint and Response to Injury.
 In: McIlwraith C, Trotter G, eds. *Joint Diseases in the Horse*. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996;40.

12. Gronblad M, Korkala O, Liesi P, et al. Innervation of synovial membrane and meniscus. *Acta Orthop Scand* 1985;56:484-486.

13. Dee R. The Innervation of Joints. In: Sokoloff L, ed. *The Joints and Synovial Fluid*. New York: Academic Press, 1978;188.

14. Howard R, McIlwraith C. Hyaluronan and its Use in the Treatment of Equine Joint Disease. In: McIlwraith C,Trotter G, eds. *Joint Diseases in the Horse*. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996;257.

15. Kuroki K, Cook CR, Cook JL. Subchondral bone changes in three different canine models of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2011;19:1142-1149.

16. Zimny ML. Mechanoreceptors in articular tissues. *Am J Anat* 1988;182:16-32.

17. Johnston SA. Osteoarthritis. Joint anatomy, physiology, and pathobiology. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 1997;27:699-723.

18. Radin EL, Paul IL, Lowy M. A comparison of the dynamic force transmitting properties of subchondral bone and articular cartilage. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1970;52:444-456.

19. Teitelbaum SL, Bullough PG. The pathophysiology of bone and joint disease. *Am J Pathol* 1979;96:282-354.

20. Alexander JW. The pathogenesis of canine hip dysplasia. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 1992;22:503-511.

 Kapoor M, Martel-Pelletier J, Lajeunesse D, et al. Role of proinflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2011;7:33-42.

22. Tulamo RM, Houttu J, Tupamaki A, et al. Hyaluronate and large molecular weight proteoglycans in synovial fluid from horses with various arthritides. *Am J Vet Res* 1996;57:932-937.

23. Creamer P. Osteoarthritis In: Wall P,Melzack R, eds. *Textbook of Pain*. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1999.

24. de Jager W, Bourcier K, Rijkers GT, et al. Prerequisites for cytokine measurements in clinical trials with multiplex immunoassays. *BMC Immunol* 2009;10:52.

25. Farahat MN, Yanni G, Poston R, et al. Cytokine expression in synovial membranes of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1993;52:870-875.

26. Fernandes JC, Martel-Pelletier J, Pelletier JP. The role of cytokines in osteoarthritis pathophysiology. *Biorheology* 2002;39:237-246.

27. Hampel U, Sesselmann S, Iserovich P, et al. Chemokine and cytokine levels in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid. *J Immunol Methods* 2013;396:134-139.

28. Levinger I, Levinger P, Trenerry MK, et al. Increased inflammatory cytokine expression in the vastus lateralis of patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011;63:1343-1348.

29. Pelletier JP, DiBattista JA, Roughley P, et al. Cytokines and inflammation in cartilage degradation. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 1993;19:545-568.

30. Felson DT. Clinical practice. Osteoarthritis of the knee. *N Engl J Med* 2006;354:841-848.

31. Reboul P, Pelletier JP, Tardif G, et al. The new collagenase, collagenase-3, is expressed and synthesized by human chondrocytes but not by synoviocytes. A role in osteoarthritis. *J Clin Invest* 1996;97:2011-2019.

32. Lefebvre V, Peeters-Joris C, Vaes G. Modulation by interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha of production of collagenase, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases and collagen types in differentiated and dedifferentiated articular chondrocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1990;1052:366-378.

33. Mengshol JA, Vincenti MP, Coon CI, et al. Interleukin-1 induction of collagenase 3 (matrix metalloproteinase 13) gene expression in chondrocytes requires p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and nuclear factor kappaB: differential regulation of collagenase 1 and collagenase 3. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000;43:801-811.

34. Joosten LA, Helsen MM, van de Loo FA, et al. Anticytokine treatment of established type II collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice. A comparative study using anti-TNF alpha, anti-IL-1 alpha/beta, and IL-1Ra. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996;39:797-809.

35. Joosten LA, Helsen MM, Saxne T, et al. IL-1 alpha beta blockade prevents cartilage and bone destruction in murine type II collagen-induced arthritis, whereas TNF-alpha blockade only ameliorates joint inflammation. *J Immunol* 1999;163:5049-5055.

36. Eisenberg SP, Brewer MT, Verderber E, et al. Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist is a member of the interleukin 1 gene family: evolution of a cytokine control mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991;88:5232-5236.

37. Steinkasserer A, Spurr NK, Cox S, et al. The human IL-1 receptor antagonist gene (IL1RN) maps to chromosome 2q14-q21, in the region of the IL-1 alpha and IL-1 beta loci. *Genomics* 1992;13:654-657.

38. Patterson D, Jones C, Hart I, et al. The human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL1RN) gene is located in the chromosome 2q14 region. *Genomics* 1993;15:173-176.

39. Arend WP, Palmer G, Gabay C. IL-1, IL-18, and IL-33 families of cytokines. *Immunol Rev* 2008;223:20-38.

40. Lopez-Castejon G, Brough D. Understanding the mechanism of IL-1beta secretion. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 2011;22:189-195.

41. Okusawa S, Gelfand JA, Ikejima T, et al. Interleukin 1 induces a shocklike state in rabbits. Synergism with tumor necrosis factor and the effect of cyclooxygenase inhibition. *J Clin Invest* 1988;81:1162-1172.

42. Goldblum SE, Yoneda K, Cohen DA, et al. Provocation of pulmonary vascular endothelial injury in rabbits by human recombinant interleukin-1 beta. *Infect Immun* 1988;56:2255-2263.

43. Fell HB, Jubb RW. The effect of synovial tissue on the breakdown of articular cartilage in organ culture. *Arthritis Rheum* 1977;20:1359-1371.

44. van de Loo FA, Joosten LA, van Lent PL, et al. Role of interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interleukin-6 in cartilage proteoglycan metabolism and destruction. Effect of in situ blocking in murine antigen- and zymosan-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 1995;38:164-172.

45. van de Loo AA, Arntz OJ, Bakker AC, et al. Role of interleukin 1 in antigen-induced exacerbations of murine arthritis. *Am J Pathol* 1995;146:239-249.

46. Dodge GR, Poole AR. Immunohistochemical detection and immunochemical analysis of type II collagen degradation in human normal, rheumatoid, and osteoarthritic articular cartilages and in explants of bovine articular cartilage cultured with interleukin 1. *J Clin Invest* 1989;83:647-661.

47. van de Loo AA, van den Berg WB. Effects of murine recombinant interleukin 1 on synovial joints in mice: measurement of patellar cartilage metabolism and joint inflammation. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1990;49:238-245.

48. Martinon F, Tschopp J. NLRs join TLRs as innate sensors of pathogens. *Trends Immunol* 2005;26:447-454.

49. Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol Cell* 2002;10:417-426.

50. Greenfeder SA, Nunes P, Kwee L, et al. Molecular cloning and characterization of a second subunit of the interleukin 1 receptor complex. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270:13757-13765.

51. Huang J, Gao X, Li S, et al. Recruitment of IRAK to the interleukin 1 receptor complex requires interleukin 1 receptor accessory protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997;94:12829-12832.

52. Bazzoni F, Cassatella MA, Laudanna C, et al. Phagocytosis of opsonized yeast induces tumor necrosis factor-alpha mRNA accumulation and protein release by human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* 1991;50:223-228.

53. Alexopoulou L, Kranidioti K, Xanthoulea S, et al. Transmembrane TNF protects mutant mice against intracellular bacterial infections, chronic inflammation and autoimmunity. *Eur J Immunol* 2006;36:2768-2780.

54. Zucker K, Lu P, Fuller L, et al. Cloning and expression of the cDNA for canine tumor necrosis factor-alpha in E. coli. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res* 1994;13:191-196.

55. Alaaeddine N, DiBattista JA, Pelletier JP, et al. Osteoarthritic synovial fibroblasts possess an increased level of tumor necrosis factor-receptor 55 (TNF-R55) that mediates biological activation by TNF-alpha. *J Rheumatol* 1997;24:1985-1994.

56. Westacott CI, Atkins RM, Dieppe PA, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor expression on chondrocytes isolated from human articular cartilage. *J Rheumatol* 1994;21:1710-1715.

57. Beutler B, Cerami A. The biology of cachectin/TNF--a primary mediator of the host response. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1989;7:625-655.

58. Grell M, Douni E, Wajant H, et al. The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* 1995;83:793-802.

59. Hardingham TE, Bayliss MT, Rayan V, et al. Effects of growth factors and cytokines on proteoglycan turnover in articular cartilage. *Br J Rheumatol* 1992;31 Suppl 1:1-6.

60. Okada Y, Shinmei M, Tanaka O, et al. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase 3 (stromelysin) in osteoarthritic cartilage and synovium. *Lab Invest* 1992;66:680-690.

61. Brinckerhoff CE. Regulation of metalloproteinase gene expression: implications for osteoarthritis. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr* 1992;2:145-164.

62. Shinmei M, Masuda K, Kikuchi T, et al. Production of cytokines by chondrocytes and its role in proteoglycan degradation. *J Rheumatol Suppl* 1991;27:89-91.

63. Slowik MR, De Luca LG, Fiers W, et al. Tumor necrosis factor activates human endothelial cells through the p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor but the p75

receptor contributes to activation at low tumor necrosis factor concentration. *Am J Pathol* 1993;143:1724-1730.

64. Bedard PA, Golds EE. Cytokine-induced expression of mRNAs for
chemotactic factors in human synovial cells and fibroblasts. *J Cell Physiol* 1993;154:433441.

65. Kammermann JR, Kincaid SA, Rumph PF, et al. Tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF-alpha) in canine osteoarthritis: Immunolocalization of TNF-alpha, stromelysin and TNF receptors in canine osteoarthritic cartilage. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1996;4:23-34.

66. Webb GR, Westacott CI, Elson CJ. Chondrocyte tumor necrosis factor receptors and focal loss of cartilage in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1997;5:427-437.

67. Heilig B, Fiehn C, Brockhaus M, et al. Evaluation of soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors and TNF receptor antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematodes, progressive systemic sclerosis, and mixed connective tissue disease. *J Clin Immunol* 1993;13:321-328.

68. Cope AP, Aderka D, Doherty M, et al. Increased levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors in the sera and synovial fluid of patients with rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis Rheum* 1992;35:1160-1169.

69. Kontoyiannis D, Pasparakis M, Pizarro TT, et al. Impaired on/off regulation of TNF biosynthesis in mice lacking TNF AU-rich elements: implications for joint and gut-associated immunopathologies. *Immunity* 1999;10:387-398.

70. Zhu FX, Zhou RH, Shi YH, et al. Effect of parthenolide on serum expressions of interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in rabbits with knee osteoarthritis. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi* 2013;33:1382-1384.

71. Chimenti MS, Saraceno R, Chiricozzi A, et al. Profile of certolizumab and its potential in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 2013;7:339-348.

72. Al-Shakarchi I, Gullick NJ, Scott DL. Current perspectives on tocilizumab for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: a review. *Patient Prefer Adherence* 2013;7:653-666.

73. Ciurea A, Scherer A, Exer P, et al. Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibition in radiographic and nonradiographic axial spondyloarthritis: results from a large observational cohort. *Arthritis Rheum* 2013;65:3096-3106.

74. Fioravanti A, Fabbroni M, Cerase A, et al. Treatment of erosive osteoarthritis of the hands by intra-articular infliximab injections: a pilot study. *Rheumatol Int* 2009;29:961-965.

75. Grunke M, Schulze-Koops H. Successful treatment of inflammatory knee osteoarthritis with tumour necrosis factor blockade. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2006;65:555-556.

76. Magnano MD, Chakravarty EF, Broudy C, et al. A pilot study of tumor necrosis factor inhibition in erosive/inflammatory osteoarthritis of the hands. *J Rheumatol* 2007;34:1323-1327.

77. Kaneko S, Satoh T, Chiba J, et al. Interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 levels in serum and synovial fluid of patients with osteoarthritis. *Cytokines Cell Mol Ther* 2000;6:71-79.

78. Poree B, Kypriotou M, Chadjichristos C, et al. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and/or soluble IL-6 receptor down-regulation of human type II collagen gene expression in articular chondrocytes requires a decrease of Sp1.Sp3 ratio and of the binding activity of both factors to the COL2A1 promoter. *J Biol Chem* 2008;283:4850-4865.

79. Rowan AD, Koshy PJ, Shingleton WD, et al. Synergistic effects of glycoprotein 130 binding cytokines in combination with interleukin-1 on cartilage collagen breakdown. *Arthritis Rheum* 2001;44:1620-1632.

80. Cawston TE, Curry VA, Summers CA, et al. The role of oncostatin M in animal and human connective tissue collagen turnover and its localization within the rheumatoid joint. *Arthritis Rheum* 1998;41:1760-1771.

81. Alonzi T, Fattori E, Lazzaro D, et al. Interleukin 6 is required for the development of collagen-induced arthritis. *J Exp Med* 1998;187:461-468.

82. Scanzello CR, Umoh E, Pessler F, et al. Local cytokine profiles in knee osteoarthritis: elevated synovial fluid interleukin-15 differentiates early from end-stage disease. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2009;17:1040-1048.

83. Benderdour M, Tardif G, Pelletier JP, et al. Interleukin 17 (IL-17) induces collagenase-3 production in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes via AP-1 dependent activation: differential activation of AP-1 members by IL-17 and IL-1beta. *J Rheumatol* 2002;29:1262-1272.

84. Pacquelet S, Presle N, Boileau C, et al. Interleukin 17, a nitric oxideproducing cytokine with a peroxynitrite-independent inhibitory effect on proteoglycan synthesis. *J Rheumatol* 2002;29:2602-2610.

85. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, van de Loo FA, et al. Reduction of interleukin-17-induced inhibition of chondrocyte proteoglycan synthesis in intact murine articular cartilage by interleukin-4. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000;43:1300-1306.

86. Martel-Pelletier J, Mineau F, Jovanovic D, et al. Mitogen-activated protein kinase and nuclear factor kappaB together regulate interleukin-17-induced nitric oxide production in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes: possible role of transactivating factor mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated proten kinase (MAPKAPK). *Arthritis Rheum* 1999;42:2399-2409.

87. Olee T, Hashimoto S, Quach J, et al. IL-18 is produced by articular chondrocytes and induces proinflammatory and catabolic responses. *J Immunol* 1999;162:1096-1100.

Arend WP. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Adv Immunol* 1993;54:167 227.

89. Arend WP, Malyak M, Guthridge CJ, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: role in biology. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1998;16:27-55.

90. Colotta F, Dower SK, Sims JE, et al. The type II 'decoy' receptor: a novel regulatory pathway for interleukin 1. *Immunol Today* 1994;15:562-566.

91. Li X, Commane M, Jiang Z, et al. IL-1-induced NFkappa B and c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK) activation diverge at IL-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001;98:4461-4465.

92. Ninomiya-Tsuji J, Kishimoto K, Hiyama A, et al. The kinase TAK1 can activate the NIK-I kappaB as well as the MAP kinase cascade in the IL-1 signalling pathway. *Nature* 1999;398:252-256.

93. Sims JE, Giri JG, Dower SK. The two interleukin-1 receptors play different roles in IL-1 actions. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 1994;72:9-14.

94. Haskill S, Martin G, Van Le L, et al. cDNA cloning of an intracellular form of the human interleukin 1 receptor antagonist associated with epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991;88:3681-3685.

95. Arend WP, Welgus HG, Thompson RC, et al. Biological properties of recombinant human monocyte-derived interleukin 1 receptor antagonist. *J Clin Invest* 1990;85:1694-1697.

96. Fukumoto T, Matsukawa A, Ohkawara S, et al. Administration of neutralizing antibody against rabbit IL-1 receptor antagonist exacerbates lipopolysaccharide-induced arthritis in rabbits. *Inflamm Res* 1996;45:479-485.

97. Schwab JH, Anderle SK, Brown RR, et al. Pro- and anti-inflammatory roles of interleukin-1 in recurrence of bacterial cell wall-induced arthritis in rats. *Infect Immun* 1991;59:4436-4442.

98. Kuiper S, Joosten LA, Bendele AM, et al. Different roles of tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1 in murine streptococcal cell wall arthritis. *Cytokine* 1998;10:690-702.

99. Bendele A, McAbee T, Sennello G, et al. Efficacy of sustained blood levels of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in animal models of arthritis: comparison of efficacy in animal models with human clinical data. *Arthritis Rheum* 1999;42:498-506.

100. Horai R, Saijo S, Tanioka H, et al. Development of chronic inflammatory arthropathy resembling rheumatoid arthritis in interleukin 1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 2000;191:313-320.

101. Arner EC, Harris RR, DiMeo TM, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist inhibits proteoglycan breakdown in antigen induced but not polycation induced arthritis in the rabbit. *J Rheumatol* 1995;22:1338-1346.

102. Van Lent PL, Van De Loo FA, Holthuysen AE, et al. Major role for interleukin 1 but not for tumor necrosis factor in early cartilage damage in immune complex arthritis in mice. *J Rheumatol* 1995;22:2250-2258.

103. Wooley PH, Whalen JD, Chapman DL, et al. The effect of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein on type II collagen-induced arthritis and antigen-induced arthritis in mice. *Arthritis Rheum* 1993;36:1305-1314.

104. Ma Y, Thornton S, Boivin GP, et al. Altered susceptibility to collageninduced arthritis in transgenic mice with aberrant expression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Arthritis Rheum* 1998;41:1798-1805.

105. Chevalier X, Giraudeau B, Conrozier T, et al. Safety study of intraarticular injection of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in patients with painful knee osteoarthritis: a multicenter study. *J Rheumatol* 2005;32:1317-1323.

106. Scott JL, Gabrielides C, Davidson RK, et al. Superoxide dismutase downregulation in osteoarthritis progression and end-stage disease. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2010;69:1502-1510.

107. Lund EM, Armstrong PJ, Kirk CA, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for obesity in adult cats from private US veterinary practices. *Int J Appl Res Vet Med* 2005;3:88-96.

108. Bottcher P, Kluter S, Krastel D, et al. Liposuction--removal of giant lipomas for weight loss in a dog with severe hip osteoarthritis. *J Small Anim Pract* 2007;48:46-48.

109. Paans N, van den Akker-Scheek I, van der Meer K, et al. The effects of exercise and weight loss in overweight patients with hip osteoarthritis: design of a prospective cohort study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2009;10:24.

110. Marshall WG, Hazewinkel HA, Mullen D, et al. The effect of weight loss on lameness in obese dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet Res Commun* 2010;34:241-253.

111. Richette P, Poitou C, Garnero P, et al. Benefits of massive weight loss on symptoms, systemic inflammation and cartilage turnover in obese patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2011;70:139-144.

112. Aaboe J, Bliddal H, Messier SP, et al. Effects of an intensive weight loss program on knee joint loading in obese adults with knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2011;19:822-828.

113. Sharma L, Lou C, Cahue S, et al. The mechanism of the effect of obesityin knee osteoarthritis: the mediating role of malalignment. *Arthritis Rheum* 2000;43:568-575.

114. German AJ, Hervera M, Hunter L, et al. Improvement in insulin resistance and reduction in plasma inflammatory adipokines after weight loss in obese dogs. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* 2009;37:214-226.

115. Felson DT, Goggins J, Niu J, et al. The effect of body weight on progression of knee osteoarthritis is dependent on alignment. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004;50:3904-3909.

116. Laflamme DP. Companion Animals Symposium: Obesity in dogs and cats: What is wrong with being fat? *J Anim Sci* 2012;90:1653-1662.

117. Smith GK, Paster ER, Powers MY, et al. Lifelong diet restriction and radiographic evidence of osteoarthritis of the hip joint in dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 2006;229:690-693.

118. Lawler DF, Larson BT, Ballam JM, et al. Diet restriction and ageing in the dog: major observations over two decades. *Br J Nutr* 2008;99:793-805.

119. Kealy RD, Lawler DF, Ballam JM, et al. Five-year longitudinal study on limited food consumption and development of osteoarthritis in coxofemoral joints of dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 1997;210:222-225.

120. Zhang SL, Liu HQ, Xu XZ, et al. Effects of exercise therapy on knee joint function and synovial fluid cytokine levels in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Mol Med Rep* 2013;7:183-186.

121. Palmoski MJ, Brandt KD. Effects of static and cyclic compressive loading on articular cartilage plugs in vitro. *Arthritis Rheum* 1984;27:675-681.

122. Clark B, McLaughlin RM. Physical rehabilitation for the small animal orthopedic patient. *Vet Med* 2001;96:234-246.

123. Millis DL, Levine D. The role of exercise and physical modalities in the treatment of osteoarthritis. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 1997;27:913-930.

124. Crook T, McGowan C, Pead M. Effect of passive stretching on the range of motion of osteoarthritic joints in 10 labrador retrievers. *Vet Rec* 2007;160:545-547.

125. Taylor RA. Postsurgical Physical Therapy - the Missing Link. Compendium on Continuing Education for the Practicing Veterinarian 1992;14:1583-&.

126. Salter RB, Simmonds DF, Malcolm BW, et al. The biological effect of continuous passive motion on the healing of full-thickness defects in articular cartilage. An experimental investigation in the rabbit. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1980;62:1232-1251.

127. Mills, Levine. *Canine Rehabilitation and Physical Therapy, 2nd Edition*: Sauders, 2013.

128. LeBlanc CJ, Horohov DW, Bauer JE, et al. Effects of dietary supplementation with fish oil on in vivo production of inflammatory mediators in clinically normal dogs. *Am J Vet Res* 2008;69:486-493.

129. Richardson DC, Schoenherr WD, Zicker SC. Nutritional management of osteoarthritis. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 1997;27:883-911.

130. Schoenherr WD, Jewell DE. Nutritional modification of inflammatory diseases. *Semin Vet Med Surg (Small Anim)* 1997;12:212-222.

131. Curtis CL, Rees SG, Cramp J, et al. Effects of n-3 fatty acids on cartilage metabolism. *Proc Nutr Soc* 2002;61:381-389.

132. Jerosch J. Effects of Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfate on Cartilage Metabolism in OA: Outlook on Other Nutrient Partners Especially Omega-3 Fatty Acids. *Int J Rheumatol* 2011;2011:969012.

133. Talahalli RR, Vallikannan B, Sambaiah K, et al. Lower efficacy in the utilization of dietary ALA as compared to preformed EPA + DHA on long chain n-3 PUFA levels in rats. *Lipids* 2010;45:799-808.

134. Bauer JE. Responses of dogs to dietary omega-3 fatty acids. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 2007;231:1657-1661.

135. Sierra S, Lara-Villoslada F, Comalada M, et al. Dietary eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid equally incorporate as decosahexaenoic acid but differ in inflammatory effects. *Nutrition* 2008;24:245-254.

136. Moreau M, Troncy E, Del Castillo JR, et al. Effects of feeding a high omega-3 fatty acids diet in dogs with naturally occurring osteoarthritis. *J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl)* 2012.

137. Fritsch D, Allen TA, Dodd CE, et al. Dose-titration effects of fish oil in osteoarthritic dogs. *J Vet Intern Med* 2010;24:1020-1026.

138. Fritsch DA, Allen TA, Dodd CE, et al. A multicenter study of the effect of dietary supplementation with fish oil omega-3 fatty acids on carprofen dosage in dogs with osteoarthritis. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 2010;236:535-539.

139. Hansen RA, Harris MA, Pluhar GE, et al. Fish oil decreases matrix metalloproteinases in knee synovia of dogs with inflammatory joint disease. *J Nutr Biochem* 2008;19:101-108.

140. Michel BA, Stucki G, Frey D, et al. Chondroitins 4 and 6 sulfate in osteoarthritis of the knee: a randomized, controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005;52:779-786.

141. Bucsi L, Poor G. Efficacy and tolerability of oral chondroitin sulfate as a symptomatic slow-acting drug for osteoarthritis (SYSADOA) in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1998;6 Suppl A:31-36.

142. Gupta RC, Canerdy TD, Lindley J, et al. Comparative therapeutic efficacy and safety of type-II collagen (UC-II), glucosamine and chondroitin in arthritic dogs: pain evaluation by ground force plate. *J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl)* 2012;96:770-777.

143. McCarthy G, O'Donovan J, Jones B, et al. Randomised double-blind, positive-controlled trial to assess the efficacy of glucosamine/chondroitin sulfate for the treatment of dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet J* 2007;174:54-61.

144. Aragon CL, Hofmeister EH, Budsberg SC. Systematic review of clinical trials of treatments for osteoarthritis in dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 2007;230:514-521.

145. Rhouma M, de Oliveira El Warrak A, Troncy E, et al. Anti-inflammatory response of dietary vitamin E and its effects on pain and joint structures during early stages of surgically induced osteoarthritis in dogs. *Can J Vet Res* 2013;77:191-198.

146. Hielm-Bjorkman A, Tulamo RM, Salonen H, et al. Evaluating Complementary Therapies for Canine Osteoarthritis Part I: Green-lipped Mussel (Perna canaliculus). *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* 2009;6:365-373.

147. Smith WL, Meade EA, DeWitt DL. Pharmacology of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase isozymes-1 and -2. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1994;714:136-142.

148. Dvorak LD, Cook JL, Kreeger JM, et al. Effects of carprofen and dexamethasone on canine chondrocytes in a three-dimensional culture model of osteoarthritis. *Am J Vet Res* 2002;63:1363-1369.

149. Pelletier JP, Lajeunesse D, Jovanovic DV, et al. Carprofen simultaneously reduces progression of morphological changes in cartilage and subchondral bone in experimental dog osteoarthritis. *J Rheumatol* 2000;27:2893-2902.

150. Pelletier JP, Lajeunesse D, Hilal G, et al. Carprofen reduces the structural changes and the abnormal subchondral bone metabolism of experimental osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1999;7:327-328.

151. Pelletier JP, Boileau C, Brunet J, et al. The inhibition of subchondral bone resorption in the early phase of experimental dog osteoarthritis by licofelone is associated with a reduction in the synthesis of MMP-13 and cathepsin K. *Bone* 2004;34:527-538.

152. Jovanovic DV, Mineau F, Notoya K, et al. Nitric oxide induced cell death in human osteoarthritic synoviocytes is mediated by tyrosine kinase activation and hydrogen peroxide and/or superoxide formation. *J Rheumatol* 2002;29:2165-2175.

153. Neugebauer V, Schaible HG. Evidence for a central component in the sensitization of spinal neurons with joint input during development of acute arthritis in cat's knee. *J Neurophysiol* 1990;64:299-311.

154. Menetrey D, Besson JM. Electrophysiological characteristics of dorsal horn cells in rats with cutaneous inflammation resulting from chronic arthritis. *Pain* 1982;13:343-364.

155. Samad TA, Moore KA, Sapirstein A, et al. Interleukin-1beta-mediated induction of Cox-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *Nature* 2001;410:471-475.

156. Veiga AP, Duarte ID, Avila MN, et al. Prevention by celecoxib of secondary hyperalgesia induced by formalin in rats. *Life Sci* 2004;75:2807-2817.

157. Sluka KA, Willis WD, Westlund KN. Central Control of Peripheral Joint Inflammation and Heat Hyperalgesia. *Prog Pain Res Manag* 1994;2:359-371.

158. Fiorentino PM, Tallents RH, Miller JN, et al. Spinal interleukin-1beta in a mouse model of arthritis and joint pain. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008;58:3100-3109.

159. Vasseur PB, Johnson AL, Budsberg SC, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of the efficacy of carprofen, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, in the treatment of osteoarthritis in dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 1995;206:807-811.

160. Lipscomb VJ, AliAbadi FS, Lees P, et al. Clinical efficacy and pharmacokinetics of carprofen in the treatment of dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet Rec* 2002;150:684-689.

161. Mansa S, Palmer E, Grondahl C, et al. Long-term treatment with carprofen of 805 dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet Rec* 2007;160:427-430.

162. Moreau M, Dupuis J, Bonneau NH, et al. Clinical evaluation of a nutraceutical, carprofen and meloxicam for the treatment of dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet Rec* 2003;152:323-329.

163. Edamura K, King JN, Seewald W, et al. Comparison of oral robenacoxib and carprofen for the treatment of osteoarthritis in dogs: a randomized clinical trial. *J Vet Med Sci* 2012;74:1121-1131.

164. Pollmeier M, Toulemonde C, Fleishman C, et al. Clinical evaluation of firocoxib and carprofen for the treatment of dogs with osteoarthritis. *Vet Rec* 2006;159:547-551.

165. Reymond N, Speranza C, Gruet P, et al. Robenacoxib vs. carprofen for the treatment of canine osteoarthritis; a randomized, noninferiority clinical trial. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther* 2012;35:175-183.

166. Innes JF, Clayton J, Lascelles BD. Review of the safety and efficacy of
long-term NSAID use in the treatment of canine osteoarthritis. *Vet Rec* 2010;166:226230.

167. MacPhail CM, Lappin MR, Meyer DJ, et al. Hepatocellular toxicosis associated with administration of carprofen in 21 dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 1998;212:1895-1901.

168. Forsyth SF, Guilford WG, Lawoko CR. Endoscopic evaluation of the gastroduodenal mucosa following non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug administration in the dog. *N Z Vet J* 1996;44:179-181.

169. Forsyth SF, Guilford WG, Haslett SJ, et al. Endoscopy of the gastroduodenal mucosa after carprofen, meloxicam and ketoprofen administration in dogs. *J Small Anim Pract* 1998;39:421-424.

170. Harkins JD, Carney JM, Tobin T. Clinical Use and Characteristics of the Corticosteroids. *Veterinary Clinics of North America-Equine Practice* 1993;9:543-562.

171. Johnston SA, Budsberg SC. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids for the management of canine osteoarthritis. *Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract* 1997;27:841-862.

172. Pelletier JP, DiBattista JA, Raynauld JP, et al. The in vivo effects of intraarticular corticosteroid injections on cartilage lesions, stromelysin, interleukin-1, and oncogene protein synthesis in experimental osteoarthritis. *Lab Invest* 1995;72:578-586.

173. Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J. Protective effects of corticosteroids on cartilage lesions and osteophyte formation in the Pond-Nuki dog model of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 1989;32:181-193.

174. Oikarinen AI, Vuorio EI, Zaragoza EJ, et al. Modulation of collagen metabolism by glucocorticoids. Receptor-mediated effects of dexamethasone on collagen

biosynthesis in chick embryo fibroblasts and chondrocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1988;37:1451-1462.

175. Srinivas GR, Chichester CO, Barrach HJ, et al. Effects of certain antiarthritic agents on the synthesis of type II collagen and glycosaminoglycans in rat chondrosarcoma cultures. *Agents Actions* 1994;41:193-199.

176. Kunin AS, Meyer WL. The effect of cortisone on the intermediary metabolism of epiphyseal cartilage from rats. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1969;129:421-430.

177. Hainque B, Dominice J, Jaffray P, et al. Effects of dexamethasone on the growth of cultured rabbit articular chondrocytes:relation with the nuclear glucocorticoid-receptor complex. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1987;46:146-152.

178. Simmons DJ, Kunin AS. Autoradiographic and biochemical investigations of the effect of cortisone on the bones of the rat. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1967;55:201-215.

179. Todhunter RJ, Fubini SL, Vernier-Singer M, et al. Acute synovitis and
intra-articular methylprednisolone acetate in ponies. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1998;6:94105.

180. Bacon PA. Etodolac: efficacy in osteoarthritis and effects on chondrocyte function. *Rheumatol Int* 1990;10 Suppl:3-7.

181. Anitua E, Sanchez M, Orive G, et al. A biological therapy to osteoarthritis treatment using platelet-rich plasma. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 2013;13:1161-1172.

182. Fahie MA, Ortolano GA, Guercio V, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the efficacy of autologous platelet therapy for the treatment of osteoarthritis in dogs. *J Am Vet Med Assoc* 2013;243:1291-1297.

Jang SJ, Kim JD, Cha SS. Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) injections as an effective treatment for early osteoarthritis. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol* 2013;23:573-580.

184. Patel S, Dhillon MS, Aggarwal S, et al. Treatment with platelet-rich plasma is more effective than placebo for knee osteoarthritis: a prospective, double-blind, randomized trial. *Am J Sports Med* 2013;41:356-364.

185. Textor J. Autologous biologic treatment for equine musculoskeletal injuries: platelet-rich plasma and IL-1 receptor antagonist protein. *Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract* 2011;27:275-298.

186. Franklin SP, Garner BC, Cook JL. Characteristics of canine platelet-rich plasma prepared with five commercially available systems. *Am J Vet Res* 2015;76:822-827.

187. Fortier LA, Barker JU, Strauss EJ, et al. The role of growth factors in cartilage repair. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2011;469:2706-2715.

 Nguyen RT, Borg-Stein J, McInnis K. Applications of platelet-rich plasma in musculoskeletal and sports medicine: an evidence-based approach. *PM R* 2011;3:226-250.

189. Schmidt MB, Chen EH, Lynch SE. A review of the effects of insulin-like growth factor and platelet derived growth factor on in vivo cartilage healing and repair. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2006;14:403-412.

190. Kajikawa Y, Morihara T, Sakamoto H, et al. Platelet-rich plasma enhances the initial mobilization of circulation-derived cells for tendon healing. *J Cell Physiol* 2008;215:837-845.

191. van den Dolder J, Mooren R, Vloon AP, et al. Platelet-rich plasma: quantification of growth factor levels and the effect on growth and differentiation of rat bone marrow cells. *Tissue Eng* 2006;12:3067-3073.

192. Csaki C, Matis U, Mobasheri A, et al. Chondrogenesis, osteogenesis and adipogenesis of canine mesenchymal stem cells: a biochemical, morphological and ultrastructural study. *Histochem Cell Biol* 2007;128:507-520.

193. Black LL, Gaynor J, Gahring D, et al. Effect of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem and regenerative cells on lameness in dogs with chronic osteoarthritis of the coxofemoral joints: a randomized, double-blinded, multicenter, controlled trial. *Vet Ther* 2007;8:272-284.

194. Black LL, Gaynor J, Adams C, et al. Effect of intraarticular injection of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem and regenerative cells on clinical signs of chronic osteoarthritis of the elbow joint in dogs. *Vet Ther* 2008;9:192-200.

195. Wehling P, Moser C, Frisbie D, et al. Autologous conditioned serum in the treatment of orthopedic diseases: the orthokine therapy. *Biodrugs* 2007;21:323-332.

196. Arend WP, Malyak M, Smith MF, Jr., et al. Binding of IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-1 receptor antagonist by soluble IL-1 receptors and levels of soluble IL-1 receptors in synovial fluids. *J Immunol* 1994;153:4766-4774.

197. Rutgers M, Saris DB, Dhert WJ, et al. Cytokine profile of autologous conditioned serum for treatment of osteoarthritis, in vitro effects on cartilage metabolism and intra-articular levels after injection. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2010;12:R114.

198. Hraha TH, Doremus KM, McIlwraith CW, et al. Autologous conditioned serum: the comparative cytokine profiles of two commercial methods (IRAP and IRAP II) using equine blood. *Equine Vet J* 2011;43:516-521.

199. Meijer H, Reinecke J, Becker C, et al. The production of antiinflammatory cytokines in whole blood by physico-chemical induction. *Inflamm Res* 2003;52:404-407.

200. Baltzer AW, Ostapczuk MS, Stosch D, et al. A new treatment for hip osteoarthritis: clinical evidence for the efficacy of autologous conditioned serum. *Orthop Rev (Pavia)* 2013;5:59-64.

201. Astolfi M, McGuire K, Kaminski TW. The Effectiveness of Autologous Conditioned Serum in the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis. *J Sport Rehabil* 2014.

202. Frizziero A, Giannotti E, Oliva F, et al. Autologous conditioned serum for the treatment of osteoarthritis and other possible applications in musculoskeletal disorders. *Br Med Bull* 2013;105:169-184.

203. Baltzer AW, Moser C, Jansen SA, et al. Autologous conditioned serum (Orthokine) is an effective treatment for knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2009;17:152-160.

204. Moser C, Baltzer AWA, Jansen SA, et al. Autologous conditioned serum (ACS) compared to HA and saline injections for the treatment of knee OA [abstract podium no. 330]. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons 74th Annual Meeting 2007 Feb 14-18.

205. Rutgers M, Creemers LB, Yang KG, et al. Osteoarthritis treatment using autologous conditioned serum after placebo. *Acta Orthop* 2014:1-5.

206. Becker C, Heidersdorf S, Drewlo S, et al. Efficacy of epidural perineural injections with autologous conditioned serum for lumbar radicular compression: an investigator-initiated, prospective, double-blind, reference-controlled study. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 2007;32:1803-1808.

207. Heisterbach PE, Todorov A, Fluckiger R, et al. Effect of BMP-12, TGFbeta1 and autologous conditioned serum on growth factor expression in Achilles tendon healing. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 2012;20:1907-1914.

208. Darabos N, Haspl M, Moser C, et al. Intraarticular application of autologous conditioned serum (ACS) reduces bone tunnel widening after ACL reconstructive surgery in a randomized controlled trial. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 2011;19 Suppl 1:S36-46.

209. Wright-Carpenter T, Opolon P, Appell HJ, et al. Treatment of muscle injuries by local administration of autologous conditioned serum: animal experiments using a muscle contusion model. *Int J Sports Med* 2004;25:582-587.

210. Wright-Carpenter T, Klein P, Schaferhoff P, et al. Treatment of muscle injuries by local administration of autologous conditioned serum: a pilot study on sportsmen with muscle strains. *Int J Sports Med* 2004;25:588-593.

211. Frisbie DD, Kawcak CE, Werpy NM, et al. Clinical, biochemical, and histologic effects of intra-articular administration of autologous conditioned serum in horses with experimentally induced osteoarthritis. *Am J Vet Res* 2007;68:290-296.

212. Pelletier JP, Caron JP, Evans C, et al. In vivo suppression of early experimental osteoarthritis by interleukin-1 receptor antagonist using gene therapy. *Arthritis Rheum* 1997;40:1012-1019.

213. Caron JP, Fernandes JC, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. Chondroprotective effect of intraarticular injections of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in experimental osteoarthritis. Suppression of collagenase-1 expression. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996;39:1535-1544.

214. Fernandes J, Tardif G, Martel-Pelletier J, et al. In vivo transfer of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene in osteoarthritic rabbit knee joints: prevention of osteoarthritis progression. *Am J Pathol* 1999;154:1159-1169.

215. Huggins SS, Suchodolski JS, Bearden RN, et al. Serum concentrations of canine interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein in healthy dogs after incubation using an autologous serum processing system. *Res Vet Sci* 2015;101:28-33.

<u>Chapter 2: Cytokine and Growth Factor Profiles in Healthy Canine Autologous</u> <u>Conditioned Serum</u>

5. Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is estimated to affect as many as 20% of dogs over 1 year of age.¹ Conventional treatments such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids are non-specific, directed only at managing the symptoms of OA, and have the potential for systemic and/or gastrointestinal side effects.²⁻⁵ The treatment of OA is therefore challenging and new therapies are needed.

Autologous conditioned serum (ACS) is an autologous biological intra-articular therapy used in human and equine sports medicine for the treatment of OA that specifically blocks the major inflammatory mediator, interleukin (IL)- 1β .^{6,7} Incubation of whole blood in the presence of medical grade glass beads stimulates white blood cells to produce anti-inflammatory and regenerative cytokines, including interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra), the natural antagonist of IL- 1β .⁸ Supraphysiologic concentrations of IL-1ra block the ability of IL- 1β to bind cell surface receptors, reducing inflammation and slowing the progression of cartilage degeneration.^{9,14} Higher concentrations of IL-1ra compared to IL- 1β are required to effectively block IL- 1β receptors and slow cartilage destruction.^{7,8,15} In addition to increased concentrations of IL-1ra, increased concentrations of other anti-inflammatory cytokines, is reported in ACS in other species.^{7,8,15} The processing method for ACS takes advantage of harvesting effector molecules from both white blood cells and platelets, resulting in higher cytokine and growth factor concentrations than those reported for platelet rich plasma.¹⁶ Recently, 10 mL irap syringes have become commercially available, making ACS a practical alternative in canine medicine. To the authors' knowledge, data describing growth factor and cytokine concentrations using the irap 10 syringes in canine ACS are not reported. A recent study reported increased IL-1ra concentrations in canine ACS compared to incubated control serum using another autologous serum processing system (IRAP[™] II, Arthrex Vet Systems, Naples, FL).¹⁷

The purpose of our study was to compare the growth factor and cytokine profile of canine ACS to canine plasma. We hypothesized that anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL- 1ra, IL-4, and IL-10) and growth factors (transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1, and fibroblastic growth factor (FGF)-2) in ACS would be significantly higher than plasma controls, but that inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α) would not.

6. Materials and Methods

Study Population

Healthy adult dogs (n=22; 11 castrated males, 9 spayed females, and 2 intact females) were recruited from the community for the study. The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, the hospital board and written owner consent was obtained. The mean age was 5 ± 3 years and mean weight was 29.8 ± 5.1 kg. Breeds were mixed (6), Golden Retriever (3), Pitbull Terrier (3), Australian Shepherd (3), Labrador Retriever, Catahoula Leopard Dog, Boxer, Coonhound, Husky, and Staffordshire Terrier (1 each). Dogs were deemed healthy based on normal physical and orthopedic examinations and were excluded if lameness was detectable at a walk or trot, if neurologic disease was present, if a clinically significant illness was detectable from physical examination or history, or if medication was administered in the 10 days prior to blood collection.

Blood Collection

For ease of sampling and to minimize variation in circulating cytokine concentrations, all samples were collected at the same time of day in the early morning and food was withheld overnight. Dogs were allowed free access to water. Dogs were sedated with acepromazine (0.02 mg/kg, IV) and held in left lateral recumbencey. A 5 cm² area of hair was clipped from over the right jugular vein and the skin prepared for venipuncture using standard aseptic technique. A total of 40 mL of blood was collected from each dog using a 20 gauge butterfly catheter and distributed as follows: 2 Orthokine[®] vet irap 10 mL syringes (ORTHOGEN Veterinary GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany) and 2 syringes

containing 1.3 mL acid-citrate-dextrose (ACD-A) each for control plasma. The irap 10 samples were collected first to avoid potential contamination with ACD-A. Care was taken to draw blood slowly to avoid hemolysis and syringes were mixed gently by inversion 10 times immediately following collection. All irap 10 syringes were filled to the same mark on the syringe to ensure equal volumes in each syringe. In the final 6 dogs, an additional 10 mL serum control was collected into a sterile red top blood tube to be used for comparison against plasma. Samples were processed (or incubated in the case of ACS) within 30 minutes of collection.

Sample Processing

All irap 10 syringes were processed according to manufacturer's instructions using aseptic technique. Briefly, the plunger was snapped off and the irap 10 syringe was placed upright in a standard tube rack with the sampling port at the top and incubated at 37°C for 7 hours in a dedicated incubator (Boekel Scientific, Feasterville, PA) as per manufacturer's instructions. Following incubation, tubes were immediately centrifuged at 2900 x g and 22°C for 10 minutes using a standard tabletop centrifuge (5804R, Eppendorf North America, Hauppauge, NY). Tubes were carefully removed, placed in a rack, and disinfected using 70% isopropyl alcohol. The resulting serum was collected using an 18 gauge 3.5 inch spinal needle connected to a 12 mL syringe, the 2 irap samples pooled into a single syringe, and filter sterilized (0.2µm sterile syringe filter, Acrodisc[®], Pall Corporation, Port Washington, NY). As samples were filtered, they were aliquoted into polypropylene microcentrifuge tubes. The tubes were labelled and stored immediately at -20°C for ELISA assays.

Immediately following collection, plasma control samples in ACD-A were transferred to sterile red top blood tubes. Control serum samples collected without anticoagulant were allowed to clot at room temperature. Control plasma and serum samples were centrifuged at 2000 x g and 22°C for 10 minutes and the plasma or serum harvested as described above. Identical plasma and serum samples were pooled and filtered as for ACS. Plasma and serum were aliquoted and stored immediately at -20°C as described above.

Cytokine and Growth Factor Quantification

In preparation for quantification by ELISA, samples were thawed on ice to control proteolysis and went through only 1 freeze thaw cycle. Samples were stored for no longer than 6 months before processing. The following ELISA kits were used: IL-1ra, IL-1 β , and TNF- α (Kingfisher Biotech Inc, St. Paul, MN), and IL-4, IL-10, TGF- β 1, FGF-2, and IGF-1 (NeoBioLab, Cambridge, MN). For the subset of 6 serum samples, ELISA for TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-1ra were performed (n=22). Remaining ELISA assays (IL-4, IL-10, TGF- β 1, FGF-2, and IGF-1) were run only on the first 16 plasma and ACS samples. Cytokines were quantified in duplicate according to the manufacturers' instructions using canine-specific ELISA and standard curves generated, from the average of the duplicates, for each cytokine/growth factor kit.¹⁸ Because of known challenges in accurately measuring IL-1ra in blood products, samples for IL-1ra quantification were diluted 1:3 for serum and plasma and 1:8 for ACS samples using sample buffer (Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline with 20% fetal bovine serum) and based on recommendations from the manufacturer and a previous study.¹⁷ None of the samples were diluted for other ELISA. Plates were read by spectrophotometer (Spectramax 5, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA).

Data Analysis

All data were skewed to the left and were therefore analyzed using the Wilcoxon signedrank test (SAS version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) with significance set at P<.05. For the data sets including serum (IL-1ra, IL-1 β , and TNF- α), multiple pairwise comparisons were performed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. To estimate the IL-1ra to IL-1 β ratio, the lowest detectable concentration of IL-1 β (94 pg/mL) was used for values below the detectable limit of the ELISA to avoid a denominator of zero (5 serum, 15 plasma, and 13 ACS samples). The lowest detectable limit was selected as a conservative estimate so as to underestimate the ratio rather than overestimate.

7. Results

There was a large variability in all growth factor and cytokine concentrations between individual dogs. No significant differences between ACS and plasma were identified for IL-10, TNF-a, IGF-1, FGF-2, and TGF- β 1 (Table 1). Concentrations of IL-4, IL-1 β , and IL-1ra in ACS were significantly higher than plasma (Table 1). There was no significant difference for IL-1ra, IL-1 β , and TNF- α between ACS and serum, or for TNF- α and IL-1 β between serum and plasma (Table 1). The concentration of IL-1ra was significantly higher in serum compared with plasma. The IL-1ra:IL-1b ratio for ACS (median 39.9, range 4.6-3,300.0) was significantly higher than for serum (9.1, 7.4-32.9; *P*=.04) or plasma (7.2, 1.2-151.2; *P*<.001). The IL-1ra:IL-1b ratio for serum was significantly higher than for plasma (*P*=.04).

8. Discussion

The results of our study demonstrate significantly increased concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-1ra, and IL-4, as well as a significantly higher IL-1ra:IL-1 β ratio in ACS compared to plasma controls. No significant differences between plasma and ACS for TNF- α , IL-10, IGF-1, TBF- β 1, or FGF-2 were identified. Concentrations of IL-1ra and IL-1 β in canine ACS were similar to those reported in other species.^{7,15,17,19}

Overall, we found a 5-fold increase in IL-1ra between plasma and ACS, which is similar to the 3.2-140-fold increase reported in the human literature,^{7,8} but less than the 93-119-fold increase reported in the equine literature.¹⁵ A recent canine study using the IRAPTM II autologous processing system and a 24 hour incubation time reported a 40-fold increase in IL-1ra in ACS compared to serum.¹⁷ This difference compared to our results may be due to use of a different processing system, canine population, or longer incubation time. The two systems have not been compared in the same population of dogs. Production of IL-1ra in ACS is reported to increase with longer incubation times, the number of glass beads, and the quality of glass beads.⁸ We chose a 7 hour incubation from the range of 6-9 hours recommended by the manufacturer to enable collection and processing within a standard work day.

In previous studies, serum was used as a control for comparison with ACS.^{7,8,15,17,19} Plasma was selected over serum as the control in our study to avoid elevations in growth factors and cytokines resulting from platelet degranulation during clot formation.²⁰ Because our study design was modified to collect serum in addition to plasma from only the last 6 dogs, this portion of the sample size lends itself to Type II error when comparing serum to either plasma or ACS.

The fold increase of IL-1 β in canine ACS compared to plasma in our study is of similar magnitude to that reported in people and horses.^{15,19} The concentration of IL-1 β in ACS is an important consideration, as IL-1 β and TNF- α are thought to be the main inflammatory factors implicated in OA.²¹⁻²³ IL-1 β drives cartilage degeneration and TNF- α is associated with pain and inflammation.²¹⁻²³ IL-1 β at 1,000 pg/mL is commonly used to induce detectable cartilage damage in vitro²⁴⁻²⁵; however, proteoglycan synthesis is inhibited by concentrations as low as 10 pg/mL in vitro.²⁶ An alternative indicator of therapeutic efficacy is the ratio of IL-1ra to IL-1 β .¹⁵ The estimated IL-1ra;IL-1 β ratio of 39.9 derived from our data is consistent with human studies suggesting that IL-1ra;IL-1 β ratios of 10-1,000 are needed to effectively block the negative effects of IL-1 β on cartilage.^{27,28}

There was a large variability in growth factor and cytokine concentrations between individual dogs. In people, the importance of timing sample collection is well recognized when quantifying growth factors and cytokines.²⁹⁻³³ As growth factors and cytokines are released under neuroendocrine control, fluctuations in circulating concentrations follow a diurnal rhythm.²⁹⁻³¹ In order to minimize variability between dogs, all samples were collected at a consistent time in the morning and with the dogs fasted overnight. Other

factors such as recent exercise and disease state can also cause fluctuations in cytokine concentrations.^{34,35}

The irap 10 system is easy to use in the clinical setting and is a financially viable therapy for a broad range of small animal veterinarians. No special equipment is required. In addition to the syringes themselves, only a committed space to process samples aseptically and a standard bench top centrifuge and incubator are required. Attention to strict sterile technique must be maintained throughout collection, processing, and injection.

The challenge of our study was in accurately detecting cytokines. Traditionally cytokines are difficult to quantify, particularly from high protein samples such as plasma and serum.^{36,37} Factors including pH of the sample, interaction of the cytokine with the protein matrix, the stability of the cytokine, and binding of cytokines to soluble receptors can make cytokine detection inaccurate and difficult to interpret.³⁸⁻⁴¹ Variations caused by protein in samples can be overcome by sample dilution,^{40,42} which may, at least in part, reverse soluble receptor binding.^{41,43} Ideally all samples for comparison would be run at the same dilution; however, because of the large difference in concentration between serum and plasma samples compared to ACS, this was not possible. The dilutions used for IL-1ra in our study were based on available data,¹⁷ recommendations from the manufacturer, and dilution trials. Additionally, although the ELISA assays used in our study were canine-specific, with the exception of IL-1ra,¹⁷ none have been validated for

use with canine ACS. Therefore, it is the authors' assumption that the measured values accurately represent those present in the sample.

In conclusion, growth factor and cytokine concentrations in canine ACS are comparable to those reported in other species, with some minor species variations. High concentrations of IL-1ra, proportion of IL-1ra to IL-1 β , and low concentrations of inflammatory cytokines in canine ACS create a potentially favorable cytokine profile for the treatment of joint disease in dogs. Based on our results and the literature supporting the efficacy of ACS in other species, future investigations into the use of ACS for the treatment of OA in dogs are warranted.

9. References

- Johnston SA: Osteoarthritis. Joint anatomy, physiology, and pathobiology. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 1997;27:699-723
- Cook J, Linville C, Stoker AM, et al: Effects of local anesthetics and steroids on articular tissues. *Vet Comp Orthop Traumatol* 2013;3:A6
- Hossain MA, Park J, Choi SH, et al: Dexamethasone induces apoptosis in proliferative canine tendon cells and chondrocytes. *Vet Comp Orthop Tramatol* 2008;21:337-342
- Papich MG: An update on nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in small animals. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 2008;38:1243-1266
- 5. Reymond N, Speranza C, Gruet P, et al: Robenacoxib vs. carprofen for the treatment of canine osteoarthritis; a randomized, noninferiority clinical trial. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2012;35:175-183
- 6. Frisbie DD, Kawcak CE, Werpy NM, et al: Clinical, biochemical, and histologic effects of intra-articular administration of autologous conditioned serum in horses with experimentally induced osteoarthritis. *Am J Vet Res* 2007;68:290-296
- 7. Wehling P, Moser C, Frisbie D, et al: Autologous conditioned serum in the treatment of orthopedic diseases: the orthokine therapy. *Biodrugs* 2007;21:323-332
- 8. Meijer H, Reinecke J, Becker C, et al: The production of anti-inflammatory cytokines in whole blood by physico-chemical induction. *Inflamm Res* 2003;52:404-407
- 9. Arend WP: IL-1 antagonism in inflammatory arthritis. Lancet 1993;341:155-156
- 10. Arend WP: The balance between IL-1 and IL-1Ra in disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 2002;13:323-340

- Arend WP, Gabay C: Physiologic role of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Arthritis Res* 2000;2:245-248
- 12. Arend WP, Guthridge CJ: Biological role of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist isoforms. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2000;59:60-64
- Arend WP, Malyak M, Guthridge CJ, et al: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: role in biology. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1998;16:27-55
- Gabay C, Arend WP: Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with IL-1 inhibitors. Springer Semin Immunopathol 1998;20:229-246
- 15. Hraha TH, Doremus KM, McIlwraith CW, et al: Autologous conditioned serum: the comparative cytokine profiles of two commercial methods (IRAP and IRAP II) using equine blood. *Equine Vet J* 2011;43:516-521
- 16. Weisshaar G, Gaji S: Autologous blood derived signaling proteins (SP) for tendon and muscle therapy in sports medicine. Higher concentration of growth factors (GF) and cytokines in ORTHOKINE vs in ACP. *Br J Sports Med* 2013;47:17 e4
- 17. Huggins SS, Suchodolski JS, Bearden RN, et al: Serum concentrations of canine interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein in healthy dogs after incubation using an autologous serum processing system. *Res Vet Sci* 2015;101:28-33
- Jalilian I, Peranec M, Curtis BL, et al: Activation of the damage-associated molecular pattern receptor P2X7 induces interleukin-1beta release from canine monocytes. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 2012;149:86-91
- 19. Rutgers M, Saris DB, Dhert WJ, et al: Cytokine profile of autologous conditioned serum for treatment of osteoarthritis, in vitro effects on cartilage metabolism and intra-articular concentrations after injection. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2010;12:R114

- Eppley BL, Woodell JE, Higgins J: Platelet quantification and growth factor analysis from platelet-rich plasma: implications for wound healing. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2004;114:1502-1508
- 21. Joosten LA, Helsen MM, Saxne T, et al: IL-1 alpha beta blockade prevents cartilage and bone destruction in murine type II collagen-induced arthritis, whereas TNF-alpha blockade only ameliorates joint inflammation. *J Immunol* 1999;163:5049-5055
- 22. Joosten LA, Helsen MM, van de Loo FA, et al: Anticytokine treatment of established type II collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice. A comparative study using anti-TNF alpha, anti-IL-1 alpha/beta, and IL-1Ra. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996;39:797-809
- 23. Kapoor M, Martel-Pelletier J, Lajeunesse D, et al: Role of proinflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* 2011;7:33-42
- Lippiello L: Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate: biological response modifiers of chondrocytes under simulated conditions of joint stress. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2003;11:335-342
- 25. Shakibaei M, John T, Seifarth C, et al: Resveratrol inhibits IL-1 beta-induced stimulation of caspase-3 and cleavage of PARP in human articular chondrocytes in vitro. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2007;1095:554-563
- 26. Huch K, Wilbrink B, Flechtenmacher J, et al: Effects of recombinant human osteogenic protein 1 on the production of proteoglycan, prostaglandin E2, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist by human articular chondrocytes cultured in the presence of interleukin-1beta. *Arthritis Rheum* 1997;40:2157-2161
- 27. Arend WP: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Adv Immunol 1993;54:167-227

- Arend WP, Welgus HG, Thompson RC, et al: Biological properties of recombinant human monocyte-derived interleukin 1 receptor antagonist. *J Clin Invest* 1990;85:1694-1697
- Petrovsky N, Harrison LC: The chronobiology of human cytokine production. *Int Rev Immunol* 1998;16:635-649
- Petrovsky N, McNair P, Harrison LC: Diurnal rhythms of pro-inflammatory cytokines: regulation by plasma cortisol and therapeutic implications. *Cytokine* 1998;10:307-312
- 31. Lissoni P, Rovelli F, Brivio F, et al: Circadian secretions of IL-2, IL-12, IL-6 and IL-10 in relation to the light/dark rhythm of the pineal hormone melatonin in healthy humans. *Nat Immun* 1998;16:1-5
- 32. Cutolo M, Seriolo B, Craviotto C, et al: Circadian rhythms in RA. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2003;62:593-596
- 33. Arvidson NG, Gudbjornsson B, Elfman L, et al: Circadian rhythm of serum interleukin-6 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1994;53:521-524
- Woods JA, Vieira VJ, Keylock KT: Exercise, inflammation, and innate immunity. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 2009;29:381-393
- 35. Suzuki K, Nakaji S, Yamada M, et al: Systemic inflammatory response to exhaustive exercise. *Exerc Immunol Rev* 2002;8:6-48
- 36. Ledur A, Fitting C, David B, et al: Variable estimates of cytokine levels produced by commercial ELISA kits: results using international cytokine standards. *J Immunol Methods* 1995;186:171-179

- 37. Banks RE: Measurement of cytokines in clinical samples using immunoassays: problems and pitfalls. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 2000;37:131-182
- 38. Arend WP, Malyak M, Smith MF, Jr., et al: Binding of IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-1 receptor antagonist by soluble IL-1 receptors and levels of soluble IL-1 receptors in synovial fluids. *J Immunol* 1994;153:4766-4774
- 39. de Jager W, Bourcier K, Rijkers GT, et al: Prerequisites for cytokine measurements in clinical trials with multiplex immunoassays. *BMC Immunol* 2009;10:52
- 40. Pfleger C, Schloot N, ter Veld F: Effect of serum content and diluent selection on assay sensitivity and signal intensity in multiplex bead-based immunoassays. J Immunol Methods 2008;329:214-218
- 41. Svenson M, Hansen MB, Heegaard P, et al: Specific binding of interleukin 1 (IL-1) beta and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) to human serum. High-affinity binding of IL-1ra to soluble IL-1 receptor type I. *Cytokine* 1993;5:427-435
- 42. de Jager W, Rijkers GT: Solid-phase and bead-based cytokine immunoassay: a comparison. *Methods* 2006;38:294-303
- 43. Svenson M, Hansen MB, Kayser L, et al: Effects of human anti-IL-1 alpha autoantibodies on receptor binding and biological activities of IL-1. *Cytokine* 1992;4:125-133